**Dissertationes Forestales 293** 

# Nitrogen cycling from the perspective of boreal Scots pine trees

Janne F. J. Korhonen

Institute for Atmospheric and Earth System Research / Forest Sciences Department of Forest Sciences Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry University of Helsinki

Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in room 1, Metsätalo Unioninkatu 40, Helsinki on 9th June 2020, at 12 o'clock noon. Title of dissertation: Nitrogen cycling from the perspective of boreal Scots pine trees

Author: Janne F. J. Korhonen

Dissertationes Forestales 293

https://doi.org/10.14214/df.293 Use licence <u>CC BY-NC-ND 4.0</u>

Thesis Supervisors: Associate professor Mari Pihlatie Environmental Soil Science, Department of Agricultural Sciences, University of Helsinki, Finland and Institute for Atmospheric and Earth System Research / Forest Sciences, University of Helsinki, Finland

Professor Jukka Pumpanen Department of Environmental and Biological Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

Professor Timo Vesala Institute for Atmospheric and Earth System Research / Physics, University of Helsinki, Finland

Pre-examiners: Professor Per Ambus Department of Geosciences and Natural Resource Management, University of Copenhagen, Denmark

Docent Liisa Ukonmaanaho Bioeconomy and Environment, Natural Resources Institute Finland, Finland

#### **Opponent:**

Associate professor Tobias Rütting Biogeochemistry, Department of Earth Sciences, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

ISSN 1795-7389 (online) ISBN 978-951-651-676-2 (pdf)

ISSN 2323-9220 (print) ISBN 978-951-651-677-9 (paperback)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry at the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences at the University of Eastern Finland

*Editorial Office:* Finnish Society of Forest Science Viikinkaari 6, 00790 Helsinki Korhonen J. F. J. (2020). Nitrogen cycling from the perspective of boreal Scots pine trees. Dissertationes Forestales 293. 44p. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.293

# ABSTRACT

Nitrogen (N) and associated carbon (C) cycling were studied in an N-limited boreal Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) forest in Hyytiälä, southern Finland and were compared to two N-rich temperate forests, the Speulderbos Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Mirb.) Franco) forest in the Netherlands and the Sorø European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) forest in Denmark.

Nitrogen and carbon cycling in the Scots pine forest were modelled. These results were compared to continuous year-round observations to obtain an overall understanding of nutrient cycling in the forest. The N balance of the Scots pine forest was calculated based on direct measurements, measurement-based estimations and model results. Nitrogen uptake and resorption by trees were estimated based on continuous measurements. Litter fall dynamics of the Scots pine and Douglas fir forest were compared. Scots pine needle N dynamics were compared between the three forests.

Soil was the main N storage in the boreal Scots pine forest and most of this N was in recalcitrant form. Scots pine trees were very efficient at saving and recycling N. This together with atmospheric N deposition, potential N uptake by the canopy and organic N uptake mean that the importance of mineralization as the process driving N cycling may have been overestimated.

Most of the N was allocated simply to replace dead tissue in the Scots pine forest. This means that the additional N received via N deposition may significantly increase the N pool size that trees have for extending their biomass N (net growth). Because Scots pine trees were found to be dependent on efficient N use and recycling, this adversely also means that even slight snow and storm damages may cause foliar biomass to decrease due to reduced relocation on top of the direct effect of losing the foliage due to damage, affecting forest carbon sink strength.

**Keywords:** nitrogen balance, resorption, litter fall, nitrogen deposition, premature abscission.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Accomplishing this thesis has not been easy. I have been privileged to work in a large research group, with excellent co-workers and under excellent supervision. I am also privileged to be surrounded by wonderful people outside work. I consider many co-workers my friends. I want to thank everyone who helped me with the thesis and helped me carry on.

The biggest thanks go to my supervisors, professors Mari Pihlatie, Timo Vesala and Jukka Pumpanen for being excellent, although quite different supervisors and persons. As an extreme simplification, Mari has been a master for motivating me at an emotional level, Timo has taken care of the physical and financial environment, while Jukka's intellectual contribution and perspective have been invaluable, especially considering manuscript preparation.

The pre-examiners prof. Per Ambus and Liisa Ukonmaanaho provided a nice review of this dissertation and their comments helped to improve the dissertation. Thank you both. Prof. Jaana Bäck is the responsible professor and custos for my dissertation. Thank you for doing all the paper work professionally and also for leading the ecosystem processes research group. I thank Stella Thompson for checking the language and for improving the clarity of this thesis.

I want to thank Rüdiger Grote, prof. Hannu Ilvesniemi, prof. Jan Kofod Schjørring, Miguel Portillo-Estrada, prof. Andreas Ibrom, Liang Wang, prof. Ülo Niinemets, Hermanni Aaltonen, Ivan Mammarella, Arnoud Frumau, Lourdes Morillas, Tiina Tosens and Jian Wu for fruitful collaboration with the manuscripts.

Having spent about two years of my life in Hyytiälä, it seems like a second home to me. Special thanks go to Toivo Pohja, Veijo Hiltunen, Janne Levula and Heikki Laakso. I have always felt welcome at Hyytiälä and thanks for that go especially to Tuula Ruusunen and Jaana Aronen, but also to the whole Hyytiälä staff, including the kitchen staff, cleaners and Jarkko Saarimäki.

I thank Matti Loponen for the GC analysis of soil N<sub>2</sub>O. Sirkka Lietsala probably did the hardest work for this thesis by collecting the rainwater, throughfall, weir water and soil lysimeter water samples and preparing them for analysis, in addition to collecting, separating and weighing the litter samples for about two decades. The analysis of these samples was conducted in Hyytiälä by Sirkka and in Viikki by Marjut Wallner. Thank you very much to both.

Eero Nikinmaa was my professor when I came to university and taught me how to conduct field measurements and experiments. Of all the great people who have taught me and who I have been privileged to work with, Pepe has most strongly influenced my thinking. Spending time with you has also been therapeutic, be it the long afternoons in your Viikki office or having sauna at Vuorijärvi.

I thank all funding agencies who have supported me either directly or indirectly. Especially I want to thank Maj and Tor Nessling foundation for a three-year research grant that was exclusively used for this study.

Thanks to all my colleagues, Antti-Jussi Kieloaho, Liisa Kulmala, Annika Nordbo, Tommy Chan, Albert Porcarr-Castell, Li Liao, Pavel Alekseychik, Lauri Lindfors, Ulpu Leijala, Hermanni Aaltonen and Leena Järvi to name a few. I also want to thank all my friends and family.

# LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

The thesis is based on the following four articles, which have been published in peerreviewed journals. The articles are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. Grote R., Korhonen J. F. J. and Mammarella I. Challenges for evaluating processbased models of gas exchange at forest sites with fetches of various species. Forest Systems, 20(3), 389-406, 2011. <u>https://doi.org/10.5424/fs/20112003-11084</u>.
- II. Korhonen, J. F. J., Pihlatie, M., Pumpanen, J., Aaltonen H., Hari P., Levula J., Kieloaho A.J., Nikinmaa E., Vesala T., Ilvesniemi H. Nitrogen balance of a boreal Scots pine forest. Biogeosciences, 10, 1083–1095, 2013. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-1083-2013</u>.
- III. Portillo-Estrada M., Korhonen J. F. J., Pihlatie M., Pumpanen J., Frumau A., Morillas L., Tosens T., Niinemets Ü. Annual and interannual variations in soil C and N input from canopy litterfall in two European coniferous forests. Annals of Forest Science, 70 (4), 367-379, 2013. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-013-0273-0</u>.
- IV. Wang L., Ibrom A., Korhonen J. F. J., Frumau A., Wu J., Pihlatie M., Schjoerring, J. K. Interactions between foliar nitrogen status and leaf longevity in relation to N cycling in three contrasting European forest canopies. Biogeosciences, 10, 999-1011, 2013. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-999-2013</u>.

# **AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTION**

Janne Korhonen alone was responsible for writing the introduction to the thesis, was the main author in paper **II** and participated in writing manuscripts **I**, **III** and **IV**. Janne Korhonen was responsible for data analysis in paper **II** and participated in data analysis for papers **I**, **III** and **IV**. Janne Korhonen participated in planning the research for all the manuscripts. Janne Korhonen participated in the measurements for papers **II**, **III**, and **IV**. In paper **I**, Janne Korhonen participated in the model initialization, development and interpretation of the results.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	5
AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTION	5
TABLE OF CONTENTS	6
1. GLOBAL AND REGIONAL PERSPECTIVE	9
1.1. Reactive nitrogen in the environment	9
1.1.1. Dinitrogen and reactive nitrogen	9
1.1.2. Formation and removal of reactive nitrogen	10
1.1.3. The grand challenge of excess nitrogen	10
1.2. Forests	11
1.2.1. Boreal and temperate forests	12
1.2.2. The importance of forests	13
1.3. Plant nutrients	13
1.3.1. Origin of plant nutrients	13
1.3.2. Nutrient demand of plants	14
1.3.3. Nitrogen availability	15
2. NUTRIENT CYCLING AND ENERGY FLOWS IN FORESTS	15
2.1. Energy flows in forests	15
2.1.1. Photosynthesis	15
2.1.2. Respiration	17
2.2. Senescence and litter fall	17
2.3. Decomposition	18
2.4. Nitrogen balance of forests	
2.4.1. Nitrogen inputs to forests	
2.4.2. Nitrogen outputs from a forest	19
2.5. Nitrogen cycling within a forest	20
2.5.1. Nitrification and denitrification	20
2.5.2. Plant-microbe interactions in soil	20
2.5.3. Nitrogen uptake by plants	21
2.5.4. Strategies to cope with low nitrogen availability	21
2.5.5. Effect of nitrogen availability to carbon sequestration	
3. AIMS	

4.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	23
	4.1. Measurement sites	23
	4.2. Evaluating the overall nutrient cycling by process-based modelling	23
	4.3. Continuous measurements in a boreal Scots pine forest	25
	4.4. Litter fall measurements	27
	4.5. Physiological activity and degree of leaf senescence	27
	4.6. Description of the methods used in the articles	27
5.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	27
	5.1. Nitrogen balance of a boreal Scots pine forest	27
	5.1.1. Nitrogen storages	28
	5.1.2. Nitrogen inputs	29
	5.1.3. Nitrogen outputs	29
	5.2. Controlled and uncontrolled litter fall	
	5.3. Dynamics of litter fall and foliar nitrogen concentration	32
	5.4. The role of canopy nitrogen uptake in boreal forests	32
	5.5. Strategies to cope with low nitrogen availability	33
	5.6. Nitrogen availability and carbon sequestration	34
6.	CONCLUSIONS	34
RF	EFERENCES	

# LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

anammox	anaerobic ammonium reduction
С	carbon
$CO_2$	carbon dioxide
Г	ratio between bulk foliar concentrations of NH4 <sup>+</sup> and H <sup>+</sup>
GHG	greenhouse gas
GPP	gross primary production
Ν	nitrogen
N <sub>2</sub>	dinitrogen, nitrogen gas
N <sub>2</sub> O	nitrous oxide
NEE	net ecosystem exchange
$\mathrm{NH}_{4^+}$	ammonium
NH <sub>3</sub>	ammonia
NO	nitric oxide (nitrogen oxide)
NO <sub>2</sub>	nitrogen dioxide
NO <sub>2</sub> -	nitrite
NO <sub>3</sub> -	nitrate
NO <sub>x</sub>	NO and NO <sub>2</sub>
Nr	reactive nitrogen
Pg	petagram $(10^{12} \text{ kg}, 10^9 \text{ t}, 10^{15} \text{ g})$
TER	total ecosystem respiration

# 1. GLOBAL AND REGIONAL PERSPECTIVE

#### 1.1. Reactive nitrogen in the environment

Nitrogen (N) pollution, originating mostly from N fertilization and combustion processes, may have both beneficial and harmful effects on ecosystems. For example, forest productivity is typically limited by low N availability, whereas N pollution increases eutrophication and decreases biodiversity. Nitrogen cycling is linked to carbon (C) cycling and N pollution therefore affects the ability of forests to act as sinks for atmospheric C. Forests absorb and bind N pollution and stop it from spreading and polluting aquatic systems such as lakes, the Baltic Sea or groundwater.

#### 1.1.1. Dinitrogen and reactive nitrogen

Approximately 78% of the atmospheric dry air volume is N. This equals ca. 3 900 000 Pg N  $(3.9 \times 10^{18} \text{ kg N})$ . Lithosphere N storage is approximately half of that, i.e. 2 000 000 Pg N  $(2 \times 10^{18} \text{ kg N})$ . Of this, the N level in the Earth's soils is 133–140 Pg N for the upper 1-m layer (pedosphere) (Batjes 2014). Based on the studies of Bar-On et al. (2018) and Elser et al. (2000), the estimated N level in biomass is very roughly 20 Pg N, roughly 80% of which is in terrestrial plants, ca. 20% in microbes and 2% in animals.



**Figure 1**. Schematic figure of the main processes contributing to global nitrogen (N) cycling. The dashed line divides the processes into natural and anthropogenic parts. Anammox and denitrification are both natural processes affected by anthropogenic reactive nitrogen (Nr) increase. Anammox = anaerobic ammonium oxidation. Both nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) and dinitrogen (N<sub>2</sub>) are produced during denitrification.

Nearly all atmospheric N is gaseous dinitrogen  $(N_2)$ . The dinitrogen molecule has a covalent triple bond between the two N atoms, meaning it is extremely inert (non-reactive). For this reason, plants or other living organisms cannot directly utilize it. The vast majority of lithosphere N cannot be used by living plants because it is physically inaccessible.

All other N besides  $N_2$  is called reactive nitrogen (Nr; Sutton et al. 2011). These N compounds are typically gaseous or solid at room temperature and some are water-soluble. The reactivity of these substances varies from almost non-reactive to extremely reactive. Reactive N is essential to all known life; it has an important role in atmospheric chemistry and in many cases, the availability of N largely determines the fertility of an ecosystem at a regional scale.

#### 1.1.2. Formation and removal of reactive nitrogen

Global N cycling is briefly described in Figure 1. The main natural pathways for transforming  $N_2$  into Nr are  $N_2$  fixation (transformation of  $N_2$  to  $NH_4^+$ ) by N-fixing organisms and by  $N_2$  molecules in the atmosphere being broken down by lightning. Global natural  $N_2$  fixation is ca. 0.11 Pg N yr<sup>-1</sup> and 0.12 Pg N yr<sup>-1</sup> for terrestrial and marine ecosystems, respectively, and lightning produces approximately 0.005 Pg N yr<sup>-1</sup> of nitrogen oxides (NO<sub>x</sub>) (Schumann and Huntrieser 2007). This Nr goes into the active cycle and occurs in several processes in the atmosphere, and in terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems.

Reactive N mainly exits from the active cycle either via  $N_2$  transformation during denitrification or anaerobic ammonium oxidation (anammox) or through physical isolation by sedimentation processes. In denitrification, both  $N_2$  and nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) are produced, and  $N_2O$  is also produced by other processes (Otte et al. 2019). Nitrous oxide is a strong greenhouse gas and has an atmospheric lifetime of approximately 120 years (Prather et al. 2015). It is mainly transformed into  $N_2$  in the stratosphere by photolysis and oxidative processes (Montzka et al. 2011). Natural  $N_2$  formation is approximately 0.4 Pg N yr<sup>-1</sup>, 0.1 Pg N yr<sup>-1</sup> of which originates from terrestrial ecosystems. Sedimentation in oceans is estimated to be ca. 0.025 Pg N yr<sup>-1</sup> (Canfield et al. 2010).

The Nr level in active cycling is increasing because of industrial N<sub>2</sub> fixation, fossil fuel burning and biological N<sub>2</sub> fixation associated with land cultivation. Industrial N<sub>2</sub> fixation, fossil fuel combustion and increased N<sub>2</sub> fixation by cultivated land are approximately 0.1 Pg N yr<sup>-1</sup>, 0.025 Pg N yr<sup>-1</sup> and 0.035 Pg N yr<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (Gruber and Galloway 2008). Nitrogen released during bedrock weathering equals ca. 0.025 Pg N yr<sup>-1</sup> (Houlton et al. 2018).

In industrial N fixing,  $N_2$  is transformed into Nr, which may be used as a plant fertilizer or in industrial processes. The process was first successfully conducted in the laboratory in the early 20<sup>th</sup> century by Fritz Haber and a few years later was developed into an industrial process by a team lead by Carl Bosch. This process is known as the Haber-Bosch process (Erisman et al. 2008). In fossil fuel combustion, Nr is released from fossil storages into active cycling in the atmosphere and in terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. Legume production for fodder is the most important source of Nr related to land cultivation (Smil 1999).

#### 1.1.3. The grand challenge of excess nitrogen

Industrial N fixing (Haber-Bosch process) is needed for producing N fertilizers. Approximately half of the human population is estimated to be fed by food produced using

N fertilizers based on industrial N fixing and the global population would be significantly smaller without them (Smil 2002; Stewart et al. 2005; Erisman et al. 2008). Supporting human life on Earth is therefore currently dependent of producing new Nr.

A major portion of the Nr used as a fertilizer is not taken up by plants and is lost to the atmosphere mostly as ammonia gas (NH<sub>3</sub>) or to aquatic systems mainly as nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) (Galloway and Cowling 2002). Energy production is another anthropogenic source of Nr in the environment and it is currently largely based on the combustion of fossil fuels containing N. In our study, this Nr is called excess Nr.

Reactive N spreads via the atmosphere and is deposited into vegetation, soils, aquatic ecosystems etc. typically within some hundreds of kilometres from the source, but may also be transported thousands of kilometres (Sanderson et al. 2008). It also spreads via water flows within terrestrial ecosystems, from terrestrial ecosystems to aquatic ecosystems and within aquatic ecosystems. Reactive N in terrestrial or aquatic ecosystems may also be lost back to the atmosphere in gaseous forms. In the atmosphere, Nr may react and alter atmospheric chemistry. From the atmosphere, Nr is eventually deposited back to aquatic or terrestrial ecosystems, where it once again occurs in many processes. This phenomenon is called the nitrogen cascade (Galloway et al. 2003).

Excess Nr causes several environmental problems (Fig 2). Nitrous oxide in the troposphere is a very strong and stable greenhouse gas (GHG). In the stratosphere, it breaks down into nitrogen oxides (NO<sub>x</sub>; NO and NO<sub>2</sub>), which participate in ozone (O<sub>3</sub>) depletion. Nitrous oxide has become the most important O<sub>3</sub>-depleting emission (Ravishankara et al. 2009). Nitrogen oxides are poisonous gases that participate in many chemical processes in the atmosphere. Unlike in the stratosphere, NO<sub>x</sub> in the troposphere are precursors for O<sub>3</sub> (Fishman and Crutzen 1978). NO<sub>x</sub> also affects secondary aerosol formation in the atmosphere. In terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems, Nr causes eutrophication, which leads to biodiversity loss and anoxia. For example, anoxia is a major challenge in the Baltic Sea. Ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) causes acidification of soils in heavily fertilized agricultural areas, while NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> pollutes groundwaters. For example, the use of groundwater as drinking water is restricted in parts of Central Europe because it is polluted by NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (Sutton et al. 2011).

Reducing the Nr level in the environment is difficult because it is spread throughout ecosystems. Two major processes, i.e. denitrification and anammox, transform Nr into N<sub>2</sub> (Stein and Klotz 2016). In the denitrification process, a major fraction of the Nr is transformed into N<sub>2</sub>O, an extremely strong and stable GHG (see chapter 2.5.1). Therefore, favouring environmental conditions in which denitrification occur is not a sustainable solution. Anammox is an important process transforming Nr to N<sub>2</sub> in marine ecosystems (van de Vossenberg et al. 2013) and it is widely used to remove N from wastewaters. Nitrous oxide is not produced in this process.

#### 1.2. Forests

Forests cover 31% of the global land area, which is divided into boreal (31%), temperate (17%), subtropical (8%) and tropical forests (44%) of the global forest area. The area is decreasing at an approximate annual rate of 0.1% (Keenan et al. 2015).



**Figure 2**. The major environmental effects of anthropogenic reactive nitrogen ( $N_r$ ) increase at a global scale.

In a forest ecosystem, trees alter the microclimate such as temperature, light, wind and air humidity. Trees and undergrowth plants also strongly alter the physical and chemical properties of soil. They fix atmospheric C into solid plant matter, which is then deposited in the soil as litter. This litter is decomposed to form soil organic matter. After a disturbance, such as a forest fire or clear cutting, new forest is grown by so-called successive tree species such as Scots pine or birches. These trees may alter the environment so strongly that the successive species may be unable to regenerate at later stages of forest succession. In other words, they render their growing environment unsuitable for their regrowth, and other tree species, such as spruces, take over the role of dominant species.

#### 1.2.1. Boreal and temperate forests

Boreal forests are forests in the Northern Hemisphere in a boreal (subarctic) climate, between the tundra and temperate ecosystems. Boreal forests roughly cover Fennoscandia (Norway, Sweden, Finland, the Kola Peninsula and Karelia), the majority of Russia and a large part of Canada. The boreal forest is mostly characterized by coniferous trees, which often, but not always, are evergreen. Scots pine is the most dominant species in Fennoscandia. Boreal forests generally receive relatively small amounts of atmospheric N deposition (Jia et al. 2016). The climate in the boreal forest region varies but is typically characterized by a humid climate with distinct dormant and growing seasons. Based on the Köppen-Geiger climate classification, the average temperature during the coldest month in the boreal climate is 0 °C or lower and the average temperatures of the warmest one to three months are +10 °C or higher. Apart for the southern coast, Finland is completely located within the boreal climate (Southern coast is Dfb, and the rest is Dfc in Köpper-Geiger classification; Peel et al. 2007).

Temperate forests grow in the temperate zone, between the boreal and subtropical zones. Temperate forests may be broadleaf, coniferous, mixed or tropical. The temperate forests in West and Central Europe are typically broadleaf or mixed forests. According to the Köppen-Geiger climate classification, the average temperature of the coldest month in the temperate climate is between 0 °C and 18 °C and the average temperature of the warmest month is over 10 °C, (Peel et al. 2007). The average temperature of the coldest month in the oceanic (temperate) climate is over 0 °C (Cfb, Cfc, Cwb and Cwc in the Köppen-Geiger classification), while the average temperature of the warmest month is below 22 °C (Peel et al. 2007).

Boreal and temperate forests store 270 Pg C and 120 Pg C, respectively, and sequester C from the atmosphere at rates of 0.5 Pg C yr<sup>-1</sup> and 0.7 Pg C yr<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (Pan et al. 2011).

#### 1.2.2. The importance of forests

Forests control the global climate by regulating atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentrations (Pan et al. 2011) and regional and local climates by affecting the Earth's surface reflectance (albedo; Betts and Ball 1997; Kuusinen 2014) and atmospheric composition, for example via volatile organic compound (VOC) emissions (Kulmala et al. 2004). Forests absorb and buffer pollutants (pollution retention), sequester atmospheric C and Nr, transform them into tree biomass and less harmful substances, and prevent them and organic particles from being transported into aquatic ecosystems such as lakes and the Baltic Sea.

Aside from being beneficial for the climate and aquatic systems, forests provide other ecosystem services. They act as sources of wood, berries, mushrooms and game. Forests are important because of their cultural, recreational and aesthetic values. They are also important for retaining biodiversity. Environmental change, most importantly global warming and increased N deposition, alter the functioning of boreal forests and inevitably also the ability of forests to provide these ecosystem services.

#### 1.3. Plant nutrients

Plants benefit from several chemical elements. Elements essential for normal plant functioning are called plant nutrients. Plant nutrients are typically divided into macronutrients and micronutrients based on their abundance in plants. Nitrogen, phosphorus (P), potassium (K), calcium (Ca), sulfur (S), magnesium (Mg), C, oxygen (O) and hydrogen (H) make up the macronutrients, while iron (Fe), boron (B), chlorine (Cl), manganese (Mn), zinc (Zn), copper (Cu), molybdenum (Mo) and nickel (Ni) make up the micronutrients. Approximately 50% of the dry plant mass is C. The N content of foliar litter varies depending on species and environment. For boreal and temperate tree species, N content is typically ca.0.8–2.5% of the dry mass, being generally higher in broadleaved species than evergreen coniferous species. Concentrations of P, S, K and Ca are typically approximately 0.1% of the leaf dry mass (Berg and McClaugherty 2003).

#### 1.3.1. Origin of plant nutrients

Plants get C from atmospheric carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  in photosynthesis. Photosynthesis is also responsible for plants getting O and H from water. Water circulates through the atmosphere, which may therefore be seen as the source of water. Plants take N from the soil, but in most cases this N also originates from the atmosphere, only in centurial or millennial time scales. Other nutrients are mostly released from the mineral soil and bedrock through weathering. Nitrogen may also originate from bedrock, but this is not particularly significant in Finland or Sweden (Morford et al. 2011; Houlton et al. 2018).

#### 1.3.2. Nutrient demand of plants

The fractions in which plants require nutrients depend mainly on the nutrient concentrations of the tissue being grown by the plant is growing. However, a major fraction of certain nutrients, such as K, are not fixed within the tissue but are used for example to regulate the osmotic potential of fluids inside the plant. Some nutrients are lost to the atmosphere in gaseous forms, for example as VOCs, although generally in small amounts.

Ecological stoichiometry studies the relation between how much nutrients plants take up and how much they require. The fraction in which nutrients are needed is almost always different than the fraction that is available. This means that one nutrient is usually more scarcely available than the others, and the availability of this nutrient limits the usability of nearly all the other nutrients. This limiting nutrient is called the minimum nutrient. The concept is known as the Sprengel-Liebig Law of the Minimum (van der Ploeg et al. 1999).



**Figure 3**. Conceptual image of nitrogen (N) retention in forest ecosystems as a function of N supply such as atmospheric N deposition and mineralization. Nitrogen-limited forest ecosystems act as efficient sinks for N, preventing the spread of N into e.g. aquatic systems. Retention capacity depends on the ability of plants and microbes to take up and utilize N. The same principle applies for crop farming, in which case the N supply refers to N fertilization.

#### 1.3.3. Nitrogen availability

Nitrogen availability mainly depends on the history and current inputs and outputs of N. Nitrogen is considered the most common minimum nutrient (Vitousek and Howarth 1991; LeBauer and Treseder 2008), meaning that the vitality of forests, especially boreal forests, are limited by low N availability (Hyvönen et al. 2008). In these ecosystems, plants and microbes take up and use available N efficiently. These ecosystems are called *nitrogen limited*. Increased N availability in these ecosystems means increased biomass production.

An excess of N may be harmful for trees and the entire ecosystem, for example because excess  $NH_4^+$  is toxic to plants (Gerendas et al. 1997; Pan et al. 2016). These ecosystems also lose their capacity to buffer Nr from spreading further in the atmosphere and aquatic ecosystems. Ecosystems in a state of excess N are called nitrogen saturated. Nitrogen saturation has several definitions and criteria, including a lack of growth in response to additional N, increased N losses from the ecosystem and the equivalence of N inputs and N losses (Aber 1992; De Schrijver et al. 2008). The concepts of N limitation and N saturation are illustrated in Figure 3. Increased N losses from the ecosystem mean N<sub>2</sub>O and NO<sub>x</sub> emissions to the atmosphere and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> leaching to the groundwater and other aquatic ecosystems (Aber 1992). It is noteworthy that these ecosystems may still be net sinks for N; however, their ability to buffer and clean pollution is reduced.

Boreal forests are typically deprived of N, whereas many forests, notably temperate forests in Western and Central Europe and subtropical forests in the eastern U.S. and eastern China receive N in excess quantities (Jia et al. 2016). Although N as such is typically abundant in forest soils, its availability heavily depends on the physical and chemical properties of the compound it is bound to, on the physical and chemical environment and on the activity of the structures responsible for decomposition and nutrient uptake. Nitrogen stored in the foliage is referred to as active and N stored in other tissue, such as wood, is referred to as structural N.

# 2. NUTRIENT CYCLING AND ENERGY FLOWS IN FORESTS

The main C and N cycling processes are shown in Figure 4. Most N processes are described separately, but C and N cycling are described simultaneously in the case of litter fall and decomposition (chapters 2.2 and 2.3). Energy does not cycle in forest ecosystems, as energy flows are unidirectional, but energy flows and C cycling are treated together in chapter 2.1.

#### 2.1. Energy flows in forests

#### 2.1.1. Photosynthesis

The uptake of energy and C to the forest ecosystem happens simultaneously via photosynthesis. This makes C a special nutrient in addition to being an important building material for living organisms. When energy is used, C is lost to the atmosphere.

In photosynthesis, solar energy is used to detach C atoms from a  $CO_2$  molecule and this C together with water (H<sub>2</sub>O) is used to form sugars. The energy capture occurs in the

chloroplasts, where solar energy (light) is absorbed by chlorophyll. This energy is temporarily stored in NADPH by reducing nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADP<sup>+</sup>) and in adenosine triphosphate (ATP) converted from adenosine diphosphate (ADP). These processes are generally called the light reactions of photosynthesis. Atmospheric  $CO_2$  is then fixed and used to bind this temporally stored energy to sugars, which are more stable compounds. This chain of processes is called the Calvin cycle or the dark reactions of photosynthesis. Carbon dioxide needed for photosynthesis is transported to the chloroplasts through stomata (singular stoma) via simple diffusion. In this diffusive process, water evaporates to the atmosphere through transpiration.

Gross primary productivity (GPP) is a measure of ecosystem photosynthetic production. The annual GPP of typical European forests is rather constant, generally ranging between 10 000 and 15 000 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (Valentini et al. 2000). This thesis covers three forests. The average GPPs of a boreal Scots pine forest in Hyytiälä, Finland, a temperate Douglas fir forest in Speulderbos, the Netherlands and a temperate European beech forest in Sorø, Denmark are 1000 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (Ilvesniemi et al. 2009), ca. 2 200 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (van Wijk et al. 2001) and 1900 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (Wu et al. 2013), respectively.



(I, this synthesis)

**Figure 4**. Key processes of carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) cycling in boreal forests. Roman numerals represent the articles in which the processes have been studied. \*Only the range for N fixation was given, based on literature. \*\*Gaseous N losses were also studied as part of the modelling work (I) but these results have not been published.

#### 2.1.2. Respiration

The oxidation of substrates, typically sugars, is called respiration. Molecular oxygen ( $O_2$ ) is usually required as an electron acceptor, but anaerobic respiration may also occur. The release of energy is the main purpose of respiration. In aerobic respiration,  $CO_2$  is released to the atmosphere. In plants, respiration is usually divided into maintenance respiration and growth respiration. Maintenance respiration is vital for the survival of living cells and is highly temperature dependent. Growth respiration occurs when new plant tissue is built. It is typically limited by nutrient availability and is controlled for example by plant hormones and temperature.

Respiration is often divided into autotrophic and heterotrophic respiration, although sometimes the border between these two is unclear. Autotrophic respiration occurs in organisms that produce the substrate for respiration themselves. This includes plants in general. Photoautotrophs derive their energy from photosynthesis and mainly use sugars for respiration. Heterotrophic respiration is dependent on an external substrate source and decomposition and mineralization result from it.

Soil respiration consists of both autotrophic and heterotrophic soil respiration. Heterotrophic soil respiration is usually higher in boreal forests than autotrophic soil respiration, although autotrophic soil respiration may be as high as heterotrophic soil respiration during the growing season (Bond-Lamberty et al. 2004; Subke et al. 2006).

Total ecosystem respiration (TER) includes the maintenance and growth respiration of aboveground trees, respiration in the roots and rhizosphere, heterotrophic soil respiration, the respiration of ground vegetation etc. The difference between GPP and TER is called net ecosystem exchange (NEE). Total ecosystem respiration of the boreal Scots pine forest is approximately 800 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (Ilvesniemi et al. 2009), while being ca. 1400 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> in the temperate Douglas fir forest (van Wijk et al. 2001) and an average 1600 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> in the temperate European beech forest (Wu et al. 2013). In European forests, TER is typically ca. 80% of GPP (Janssens et al. 2001).

#### 2.2. Senescence and litter fall

Living cells and organs have limited lifetimes and at a certain point they lose their efficiency and eventually stop functioning. Longevity is the measure of the average lifetime of living organs. Higher longevity means that trees need to annually allocate fewer resources, such as N, to the foliage. The ageing and dying of plant organs is called senescence. Senescence is the beginning of the stage in which nutrients turn from nutrient-cycling drivers into nutrients that are in the cycle. In senescence, nutrients may either be directly mobilized or are at the beginning of the decomposition process. Whether a nutrient is directly mobilizable mainly depends on the chemical structure it is bound to. Mobile nutrients, such as N, P and K may be at least partly directly mobilized and translocated to other parts of the organisms. For example, N may partly be taken back from dying leaves. This process is often referred to as resorption, relocation or retranslocation (Aerts 1996).

Senescence is typically a controlled process. In boreal forests, foliar senescence follows a clear annual pattern (III). This is observed as a high level of brown foliar litter shedding in the autumn. The brown colour is a consequence of plants breaking down chlorophyll and resorbing the nutrients from it.

Disturbances, such as storms and heavy snow events, lead to premature abscission

(uncontrolled or premature litter fall) of plant organs. This means litter fall occurring without resorption. Whether these nutrients are lost from the ecosystem, whether they remain unavailable in the soil or whether they quickly become available for plant use depends on many factors.

#### 2.3. Decomposition

Nutrients in forests are in constant cycling. Plant litter, such as leaves, branches and roots, along with dead organisms contain nutrients that are not directly in organism-available form. To be usable for organisms as building materials, these nutrients have to be released. The whole process of this breakdown is called decomposition, which includes breaking down both the physical and chemical structure of the litter. Soil fauna is mainly responsible for the breakdown of physical structures and soil mixing. With the help of extra-cellar enzymes (exoenzymes), microbes break down the chemical structure of litter. The process of making nutrients organism-available is called mineralization or mobilization. In chemistry, the breakdown process of the molecular structure of organic material closer to monomer or mineral forms is often referred to as depolymerization.

Decomposition rate is dependent on the availability of substrate for decomposition, chemical and physical quality of the substrate, oxygen availability, soil moisture, pH, the availability of free energy, faunal, microbiological and enzymatic activity and on other environmental factors. Not all nutrients in the litter are mobilized. A part may also be lost to the atmosphere as gases, remain immobilized or even become more recalcitrant. The decomposition rate varies from days to centuries or even longer time periods (Trumbore 2000; Karhu 2010).

#### 2.4. Nitrogen balance of forests

Nitrogen balance considers the inputs and outputs of N to the ecosystem. When the inputs of N exceed the outputs, N accumulates to the forest and the forest acts as an N sink.

#### 2.4.1. Nitrogen inputs to forests

Nitrogen in forest ecosystems originates from the atmosphere via atmospheric Nr deposition or N<sub>2</sub> fixation. The global pre-industrial level of N<sub>2</sub> deposition is estimated at ca. 1 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (Bala et al. 2013). N<sub>2</sub> fixation in boreal forests is estimated to be in the order of magnitude of 2 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (Wardle et al. 1997) and is not assumed to have changed substantially because of industrialization. At these rates, the N accumulation takes centuries to several millennia. Atmospheric N deposition to forests currently varies between 1 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (for example Lapland) and ca. 40 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> in Western Europe (Jia et al. 2016). N<sub>2</sub> fixation is usually assumed to be at pre-industrial levels or possibly even lower in N-saturated forests.

Dinitrogen fixation is a process in which atmospheric  $N_2$  is transformed into organismavailable NH<sub>3</sub>. This is carried out by nitrogenase enzyme and certain microbes that are collectively called diazotrophs. This process requires high levels of energy, which is often obtained from photosynthesizing plants in the form of sugars. Diazotrohic microbes may live in symbiotic or less intense associative relationships with the host plant or microbes may be free-living with no clear relationship. The borderline between these classifications is often unclear and the terms 'free-living' and 'associative' are both used occasionally, mainly to separate them from a symbiotic relationship. In boreal forests, *Frankia* sp. are important N<sub>2</sub>-fixing organisms, and they are associated with trees, especially alders (*Alnus* sp.), with which *Frankia* sp. form a symbiotic relationship with. In boreal forests, an associative relationship between cyanobacterium (*Nostoc* sp.) and the ubiquitous feather moss (*Pleurozium schreberi* (Brid.) Mitt.) reportedly fixes up to 2 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> in northern Fennoscandian forests (DeLuca et al. 2002).

Bedrock may be a significant source of N (Morford et al. 2011). Modelling shows that weathering may create an input of over 10 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. Ecosystems in Europe are estimated to produce a couple of kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, whereas no significant N input from bedrock is estimated in Finland and Sweden (Houlton et al. 2018).

Atmospheric deposition is typically divided into dry, wet and occult deposition, the last of which mainly has importance in mountainous regions. In dry deposition, aerosol particles or gas molecules are deposited to surfaces after hitting them. The rate of aerosol particle dry deposition is dependent on atmospheric particle concentrations and size distributions, windiness, and the physical structure, orientation, distribution and area of the surface. The rate of N deposition also depends on the N content of the aerosol particle, of which the soluble  $NH_{4^+}$  and  $NO_{3^-}$  residing at the surface of the aerosol particle can be measured separately.

Nitrogen dry deposition of gases depends on chemical properties of the gases and surfaces, such as electric charges, surface wetness and gas concentration gradients of N-containing gases. Ammonium, nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>), nitric acid (HNO<sub>3</sub>) and nitrous acid (HNO<sub>2</sub> or HONO) are the most important molecules contributing to N dry deposition. Other N-containing molecules, such as organic molecules, e.g. peroxyacetyl nitrate (PAN), and amines, contribute to N deposition, but they are not typically quantified separately (Flechard et al. 2011; Ge et al. 2011; Wu et al. 2012).

In wet deposition, water droplets scavenge material from the atmosphere and transport it to the forest during precipitation. So-called bulk deposition is usually measured instead of wet deposition. It consists of wet deposition and some dry deposition as well (Korhonen et al. 2012). Nitrogen in wet deposition is typically measured as  $NO_3^-$ ,  $NH_4^+$  and total N.

Most of the N is deposited in the canopy. This is especially true for dry deposition. Part of the N absorbed by the canopy can be transported to the ground via throughfall. Throughfall is low during light rain events, and the canopy intercepts most precipitation. In this case, the canopy may also intercept wet N deposition efficiently. In heavier rain events, N may accumulate to the canopy or previously deposited N may be rinsed to the ground. At the SMEAR II research forest in Hyytiälä, Finland, canopy interception is approximately one-third of the total precipitation (Ilvesniemi et al. 2010).

#### 2.4.2. Nitrogen outputs from a forest

Nitrogen naturally exits a forest ecosystem either via gaseous N losses or discharge. In both cases, the chemical composition of the N compound largely determines whether it will escape the ecosystem or not. The known mechanisms of N losses to the atmosphere are mostly related to the denitrification process.

Boreal forests are located in a humid climate, meaning that at an annual scale, excess water escapes the ecosystem as discharge. The escaping water contains nutrients either in molecular or particulate form and thus water flowing out from the system also transports nutrients. Podzolized soils of boreal forests are acidic, whereas soil mineral particles have a negative charge. This means that free cations in the soil solution are efficiently bound to soil particles, whereas anions are soluble to the soil liquids and are in danger of being transported from the system via runoff. Nitrogen anions are  $NO_2^-$  and  $NO_3^-$ , and they are produced in the nitrification process. Solid particles in water are another pathway of nutrient loss in discharge. These solid particles themselves may consist of nutrients or cations may reside on the surface of the particles.

#### 2.5. Nitrogen cycling within a forest

#### 2.5.1. Nitrification and denitrification

Nitrification and denitrification have important roles in soil N cycling and they also determine how much N is lost as gases to the atmosphere or in discharge. The general availability of mineral N affects how much nitrification and denitrification occurs, and the rate of these processes is used to determine whether an ecosystem is N limited or N saturated.

In decomposition, organic matter is oxidized, energy is released and  $CO_2$  is produced. Normally during decomposition, O acts as the electron acceptor. In an anaerobic environment, including anaerobic microsites within aerobic soils, inorganic N compounds with N in a positive oxidation state may also act as electron acceptors. This chain of processes is called denitrification. In denitrification, the oxidation state of N decreases. In the first step,  $NO_3^-$  is reduced to  $NO_2^-$ , then to NO, next to N<sub>2</sub>O and finally to N<sub>2</sub>. The intermediate products NO and N<sub>2</sub>O are gases that may easily escape the system to the atmosphere. Dinitrogen is lost to the atmosphere, as it is no longer Nr.

Nitrification is an aerobic process that occurs in soils. In the process,  $NH_4^+$  or  $NH_3$  is oxidized to nitrite ( $NO_2^-$ ) or typically further to  $NO_3^-$  by either ammonia-oxidizing bacteria or archaea. Nitrification is an important process in agricultural fields and in many forest ecosystems. However, nitrification is reportedly small in boreal forests compared to the other processes of N cycling (Ambus et al. 2006). One suggested reason is the relatively high acidity of the soils (De Boer and Kowalchuk 2001).

#### 2.5.2. Plant-microbe interactions in soil

Plants exude sugars, a source of C and energy, to soil microorganisms, mainly mycorrhizal fungi (*mychorrhiza*) and *rhizobacteria*. These mycorrhizal fungi and rhizobacteria have symbiotic relationships with plants. Often, this relationship is mutualistic, meaning that it is beneficial for both the plant and the microorganism. In exchange, plants obtain nutrients, such as N, P K from fungi. The symbiosis enhances the decomposition process, which is usually classified as heterotrophic respiration (Fontaine et al. 2007; Chen et al. 2014; Adamczyk et al. 2019). This is often referred to as the priming effect (Bingeman et al. 1953). Soil respiration that is directly dependent on sugars produced by plants is called root and rhizosphere respiration and it includes belowground autotrophic respiration, but depending on the definition, it may also include some heterotrophic respiration. The symbiosis with mychorriza and rhizobacteria helps plants overcome the reality that initially the fractions of available nutrients in the soil is not the same as the fraction of nutrients they need.

Mychorrhizal fungi may be divided into endo- and ectomycorrhiza. Endomycorrhiza have

hyphae that grow into the cell membrane of plant roots, whereas in most cases the hyphae of ectomycorrhiza only surround the roots. The dominant tree species in Fennoscandian forests, i.e. Scots pine and Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) H.Karst.), are known to form mutualistic symbiosis with ectomycorrhiza (Korkama et al. 2006; Pickles et al. 2010).

#### 2.5.3. Nitrogen uptake by plants

Nitrogen may be taken up via the roots or leaves. The root pathway occurs in association with mycorrhiza as  $NH_4^+$  or  $NO_3^-$  (Courty et al. 2015) or as organic N, such as with amino acids (Chapin et al. 1993; Näsholm et al. 1998; Persson et al. 2003; Näsholm et al. 2009). Certain plants prefer to take up  $NH_4^+$ , whereas others prefer  $NO_3^-$ . In N-limited systems,  $NH_4^+$  uptake is more common. The advantage of  $NO_3^-$  is that it is easier to transport within the plant, the major disadvantage being that it needs to be reduced to  $NH_4^+$  before it may be used in the synthesis of more complex molecules that are required by the plant (Marschner 1995, Marzluf 1997). The main advantages and disadvantages for  $NO_3^-$  are the opposite than for  $NH_4^+$  uptake. In boreal forests,  $NH_4^+$  is the main mineral form of N and boreal forest plants typically prefer  $NH_4^+$  uptake.

Plants are known to take up nutrients, including N, via their leaves (Burkhardt et al. 2012). High NH<sub>3</sub> concentrations in N-polluted areas also means that plants may take up NH<sub>3</sub> gas directly via the foliage (**IV**). Organisms living on trees are called epibionts, or epiphytes when the organism is also a plant. Epibionts and epiphytes can also take N directly from the atmosphere (Elbert et al. 2012). It is also possible that NH<sub>3</sub> is lost to the atmosphere from the foliage, because NH<sub>3</sub> is produced in photorespiration.

Mobilized nutrients may be used as building blocks for plant tissue. The nutrients become immobilized in this process, meaning that they need to be mineralized before they can be reused. At this stage, these nutrients work as functioning organisms driving nutrient cycling. Nitrogen has several roles in the life of plants. It is a constituent of proteins, chlorophyll, nucleic acids (DNA and RNA) and cell membranes. Proteins are the polymers of amino acids, which in turn are derivatives of amines, which in turn are derivatives of NH<sub>3</sub>. One hundred g of NH<sub>3</sub> contains 82.4 g of N, whereas 100 g of proteins contain an average 16 g of N. All known enzymes are proteins, excluding certain RNA molecules.

#### 2.5.4. Strategies to cope with low nitrogen availability

Trees have several mechanisms to cope with limited N availability. The Roman numerals indicate the papers included in this thesis that focused on these strategies:

- 1. Trees may affect how much N they bind in their active and structural tissues. For example, a relatively sparse canopy with low N concentration automatically means a relatively low N requirement but usually also lower carbohydrate production (**I**, **IV**).
- 2. Trees can increase the longevity of their tissue such as leaves. For example, every every every trees do not need to regrow their entire foliage each year (I, IV).
- **3.** Trees can recycle N by resorbing nutrients from dying tissue. This is especially important in the case of foliage (**II**, **IV**).

- 4. Trees can increase N uptake belowground by allocating resources to the roots and rhizosphere, especially carbohydrates produced in the canopy (I).
- Trees can take up N via the canopy, assuming that the environment and chemical composition of the atmosphere is favourable for atmospheric N deposition (II, IV).

Near-perfect resource allocation between the canopy and roots is assumed in the *functional equilibrium* -hypothesis (Brouwer 1963; Lambers 1983; van Noordwijk and Dewilligen 1987). The applicability of the concept as an existing property of nature is supported by studies showing that trees growing in nutrient-poor environments have a higher fraction of roots compared to foliage than trees growing in more fertile environments (Ericsson 1995; Helmisaari et al. 2007). Assuming N as a minimum nutrient, functional equilibrium means that if the ratio between C and N is too high, more resources are allocated belowground for root growth, root maintenance and carbohydrate exudates to obtain more N. If the ratio is too low, more of the resources are allocated to growing chlorophyll in the foliage to assimilate more carbohydrates. In functional equilibrium, trees are close to a perfect compromise between options 1 and 4 described above. The concept of functional equilibrium implies that trees can sacrifice one nutrient, mostly C, to increase the availability of another nutrient such as N.

#### 2.5.5. Effect of nitrogen availability to carbon sequestration

Atmospheric N deposition has increased the availability of N in boreal and temperate forests and this has been found to increase carbon sequestration to the forests. The importance of the effect has been debated, but recent literature estimates the increase to be between 10 and 100 kg (C) kg<sup>-1</sup> (N) in boreal and temperate forests (de Vries et al. 2009; Liu and Greaver 2009; Thomas et al. 2010; Erisman et al. 2011; de Vries et al. 2014; Schulte-Uebbing and de Vries 2018). However, much higher effects have been proposed previously (Magnani et al. 2007) and certain studies question the importance of the effect (Gundale et al. 2014; Fernandez-Martinez et al. 2017). Based on fertilization experiments, the effect was approximately 30 kg (C) kg<sup>-1</sup> (N) for Scots pine in Sweden (Hyvönen et al. 2008).

Janssens et al. (2010) lists mechanisms of increased Nr availability reducing soil respiration, such as a decrease in belowground allocation by trees, a decrease in the activity of soil microbes, a decrease of the priming effect, a decrease in saprotrophic microbial communities leading to lower decomposition rates, and increased stabilization of the soil organic material.

# 3. AIMS

The specific aims of this study were:

- 1. Forming an overall view of C and N cycling in boreal Scots pine forests (I, II)
- 2. Quantifying all the relevant N pools and fluxes in a boreal Scots pine forest ecosystem (II)
- 3. Understanding how boreal Scots pine trees take up, use and recycle N (II, III, IV)
- 4. Comparing N cycling in boreal Scots pine forests to N cycling in other forests with higher N availability (**III**, **IV**)

# 4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 4.1. Measurement sites

The main site of this study represents an N-deprived Scots pine-dominated forest at the SMEAR II station (Hari and Kulmala 2005) in Hyytiälä, southern Finland. The forest was regenerated in 1962 by sowing after clear-cutting, prescribed burning and soil preparation. The soil is haplic podzol, and soil depth varies from 0 to 200 cm. The organic soil layer is approximately 5 cm thick. The measurement station was established in 1995. At the time of the measurements (1998–2010), the site represented a medium fertile even-aged young boreal forest. Part of the forest was thinned in 2002 (Vesala et al. 2005). The measurement site is divided into two overlapping areas. The meteorological footprint area is the larger of the two, covering a circle with a 200-m radius (in total approx. 126 000 m<sup>2</sup>). Most of this area is evenaged Scots pine forest, but approximately 14% of the tree basal area is Norway spruce and 12% is broadleaved trees (Ilvesniemi et al. 2009). The intensive measurement area is ca. 1200  $m^2$ , formed by two micro-catchments that only receive water through precipitation (Ilvesniemi et al. 2010). The measurements used in papers II, III and IV were conducted at the intensive measurement area, whereas measurements used in paper I represent the meteorological footprint area. For more details about the areas and timing of the measurements used in this study, see Table 1.

Boreal Scots pine sites in Hyytiälä located in Dfc climate in the Köppen-Geiger climate classification were compared to two temperate oceanic sites located in Cfb climate (Fig. 5; Peel et al. 2007). The Danish Sorø European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) site has similar precipitation as the Hyytiälä site. The Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Mirb.) Franco) site in Speulderbos (often referred to as Speuld), the Netherlands, shares a similar age, leaf type and leaf longevity as the Hyytiälä forest. The Sorø forest was planted with European beech in 1921 and is managed by thinning various fractions of the forest by 20% every 10<sup>th</sup> year, thinning averaging 2% per year (Pilegaard et al. 2011). The Speulderbos forest was planted with two-year old Douglas fir seedlings in 1962 (Su et al. 2009) and was thinned in the winter of 1995–1996 (Raat et al. 2010). The temperate sites receive high levels of atmospheric N deposition compared to the boreal site. See Tables 2 and 3 for characteristics of the physical and ecological aspects of the forests, respectively. In this study, the Finnish Hyytiälä site is referred to as the boreal Scots pine forest, the Danish Sorø site is referred to as the temperate Douglas fir forest.

#### 4.2. Evaluating the overall nutrient cycling using process-based modelling

Dynamic process-based models are a tool for investigating complex systems and the level of existing knowledge and understanding of these systems. A combination of process-based models were used to model N and C cycling at the boreal Scots pine-dominated Hyytiälä site. Ecological cycling was modelled with PSIM (Physiological SImulation Model; Grote 2007) and geochemical processes with modified DNDC (DeNitrification-DeComposition; Li et al. 1992). The models were coupled by modelling the framework MoBiLE (Modular Biosphere simuLation Environment) (Grote et al. 2009a; Grote et al. 2009b; Holst et al. 2010). Landscape-DNDC is a model developed further based on MoBiLE (Haas et al. 2013).



**Figure 5**. The location of the measurement sites in the northern part of Europe. Hyytiälä represents a boreal Scots pine forest in Finland, Sorø represents a temperate European beech forest in Denmark and Speulderbos represents a temperate Douglas fir forest in the Netherlands.

Table 1. Data used in the manuscripts of this study. In Hyytiälä, data were collected from two
areas, the smaller catchment area being part of the larger circular footprint area with a 200-m
radius. In manuscript II, some data measured in the campaign measurements were from
different years.

Paper	ļ	II	III	IV
Hyytiälä, Finland data years	1998–2007	2006–2010	1999–2010	2008–2009
Hyytiälä catchment (0.12 ha)	Х	Х	Х	Х
Hyytiälä footprint (12.6 ha)	Х			
Sorø, Denmark				Х
Speulderbos, The Netherlands			Х	Х
All tree species	Х	Х		
Main tree species	Х		Х	Х
Continuous measurements	Х	Х	Х	
Campaign measurements		Х		Х
Process-based modelling	Х	Х		

MoBiLE was parametrized based on soil survey and vegetation inventories. Meteorological data were used to run the model, and the results were compared against flux measurements conducted by chambers and eddy covariance. Certain improvements were made to the model such as implementing a phenology model that has been tested to work well with the Hyytiälä forest (Mäkelä et al. 2004). The patchiness of the tree species cover at the 200-m meteorological footprint area was tested using three simulation setups: 1) one tree species (Scots pine), 2) three individual simulations with each tree species separately (Scots pine, Norway spruce and silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth.)) and 3) one simulation of mixed forest with all tree species combined.

#### 4.3. Continuous measurements in a boreal Scots pine forest

Continuous year-round measurements of relevant material and energy flows have been measured at the SMEAR II station in Hyytiälä since 1995 (Hari and Kulmala 2005) and were extensively used in this thesis. In this study, the boreal forest ecosystem was defined to consist of everything between the canopy top down to the soil depth where the deepest plant roots reach, excluding the bedrock.

Biomass accumulation in trees was based on biomass inventories. For the inventory, the stem shapes of the sample trees were measured and modelled based on breast height diameter and other variables. Breast height diameter was periodically measured from all the trees in the intensive measurement area, and other variables used to model the biomass fractions were based on the measurements of sample trees. Biomass inventories in the 200-m radius footprint area were based on periodic measurements on sample trees.

Site name	Hyytiälä	Sorø	Speulderbos
Country	Finland	Denmark	the Netherlands
Coordinates	61° 50' N, 24°17' E	55° 29' N, 11° 38' E	52° 15' N, 5° 45' E
Climatic region	boreal (Dfc)	temperate oceanic (Cfb)	temperate oceanic (Cfb)
Mean T (°C)	2.9	8.6	9.4
Mean annual precipitation	709	730	900
Altitude from sea (m)	181	40	52
N deposition (kg N ha <sup>-1</sup> )	7.4	20	42 (throughfall)
Soil	Haplic podzol	Orthic podzol	Oxyaquic hapludalf

**Table 2**. Physical environment of the measurement sites (**II**; **IV**; Raat et al. 2010; Pilegaard et al. 2011).

Site name	Hyytiälä	Sorø	Speulderbos
Tree species	Scots pine	European beech	Douglas fir
Leaf morphology	coniferous	broadleaf	coniferous
Leaf type	evergreen	deciduous	evergreen
Stand age in 2009 (yr)	47	88	47
Dominant stand height (m)	16	26	32 (in 2006)
Leaf longevity (yr)	2.7	0.5 (1)*	2.6
Included in papers	I, II, III, IV	IV	III, IV

**Table 3**. Ecological characteristics of the measurement sites (IV; Su et al. 2009; Launiainen 2010; Pilegaard et al. 2011; Weligepolage et al. 2012).

\*Average time span of complete canopy renewal is one year for European beech and the same as the longevity for the studied Scots pine and Douglas fir trees.

Assimilation of  $CO_2$  to the ecosystem was measured with the eddy covariance method, as described in Vesala et al. (2005). In this method, air gas concentrations and 3-dimensional wind velocity were automatically measured approximately 10 times per second. This method results in NEE of  $CO_2$  between the forest and the atmosphere in a time scale of approximately 30 minutes. Net ecosystem exchange may be separated into GPP and TER, for example by utilizing existing knowledge of the temperature dependency of respiration (Kolari et al. 2009). Eddy covariance measurement gives the overall fluxes from a relatively large area, whereas most of the other measurements used in this study are based on a much smaller but more intensively studied area.

Nitrogen deposition to the system was based on bulk-deposition measurements and measurement-based modelling of dry deposition (Flechard et al. 2011). Bulk deposition includes wet deposition and some dry deposition. Wet-only deposition was estimated based on the method described in Korhonen et al. (2012). Altogether, the result was a measurement-based estimation of nine deposition fractions that may simply be summed up for total deposition. This represents the best knowledge of the actual total N deposition to the forest because dry deposition is not counted twice. Organic deposition was also measured to get the best possible measurement-based estimation of the total N deposition to the forest. Bulk deposition was measured above and below the canopy. This allowed the measurement of canopy N interception, along with studying the transformations of N in the canopy.

Hyytiälä station has been established on two microcatchment areas over granite bedrock. Discharge water is forced to exit these areas via two weirs. Waterflow was automatically measured at both weirs, and the nutrient contents were sampled daily when flowage passed through the weirs. Nutrient output in the discharge was based on these measurements.

Gaseous emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O and NO were measured based on automatic and manual chamber measurements (Pihlatie et al. 2007). In this method, gas concentration change over time is measured in a chamber closing a known area and volume of the soil. NO fluxes were measured using three automated dynamic chambers in 2011. Nitrous oxide fluxes were measured typically twice a month from six manual chambers. Gas samples were collected from the chamber airspace during approximately 30-min enclosure and were later analysed using a gas chromatograph (Pihlatie et al. 2007).

Many processes of internal N cycling within the forest, such as N allocated for growth, N resorption and N uptake by plants, could not be directly measured. These processes were

#### estimated based on mass balance.

#### 4.4. Litter fall measurements

Tree litter fall was measured at Hyytiälä and Speulderbos based on litter traps that were collected approximately once a month. The litter was separated into compartments, weighed and an elemental analysis was conducted of the compartments. As a result, a time series was constructed of litter fall quantities of various components. These data were compared to meteorological data in paper **III**. Based on the time series, we calculated the C and N levels in annual litter production. These values represent the nutrient input to soil along with the nutrient levels that trees lose annually because of dying tissue.

#### 4.5. Physiological activity and degree of leaf senescence

Leaves of the dominant tree species from Hyytiälä, Sorø and Speulderbos forests were collected once or twice a month in 2008 and 2009 from the canopy top and base. The samples were immediately stored in liquid N and dried for analysis. Carbon, N, chlorophyll A and B, bulk tissue  $NH_{4^+}$  concentrations and pH were measured from the samples (**IV**). Chlorophyll concentrations were used as a proxy of physiological activity and degree of senescence. The ratio between bulk foliar concentrations of  $NH_{4^+}$  and  $H^+$  ( $\Gamma$ ) was calculated. It was used as an indicator for  $NH_3$  emission potential (**IV**).

#### 4.6. Description of the methods used in the articles

Article **I** is a combination of theoretical process-based modelling, data analysis of measured field data from the boreal Scots pine forest and interpretation of the model results and the measured data and theoretical model development. This manuscript combines C, N and energy cycling in a boreal forest.

Article **II** is a combination of extensive long-term field measurements, data analysis and mass balance calculations. This manuscript is solely concentrated on N cycling and storages in the boreal Scots pine forest.

Article **III** concentrates on a single process in internal N cycling, i.e. litter fall. It is based on field measurements of two coniferous forest sites, data analysis and data interpretation. The study is relevant for understanding nutrient cycling, especially C and N.

Article **IV** concentrates on physicochemical properties of tree canopy related to canopy N uptake and plant strategies in conserving and recycling N. This article is based on laboratory analysis of the leaves of dominant tree species from three forest sites with various tree species and different N deposition.

The data used in the articles are very briefly shown in Table 1.

# 5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### 5.1. Nitrogen balance of a boreal Scots pine forest

Nitrogen cycling and main N storages in a boreal Scots pine forest from the perspective of Scots pine trees are presented in Figure 6. Nitrogen accumulation to the ecosystem equals the

atmospheric N deposition and biomass N increase. This means no change in the soil N storage size.

#### 5.1.1. Nitrogen storages

The total N storage in the studied 46–48-year-old boreal Scots pine forest at the SMEAR II station in Finland was in the order of 2000 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. The vast majority (almost 90%) of this was bound to the soil matrix. Mineral nutrient storage in the soil (0.3 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) was ca. four orders of magnitude lower than the whole soil N storage. The ammonium-N level (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N; 0.3kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) was two orders of magnitude higher than that of nitrate-N (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N; 0.005 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>), which in turn was approximately one order of magnitude higher than the nitrite-N level (NO<sub>2</sub>–N; **II**). Nitrogen availability is known to generally be limited in boreal forests and plants can only use mineral or at most very small organic N compounds, and therefore most of the N in a forest is in a form that is not available for plants.



**Figure 6**. Simplified image of nitrogen (N) cycling and main N storages in a boreal Scots pine forest from the perspective of Scots pine trees. The unit is kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, except for storages of foliar biomass N (80), other biomass N (150) and soil N (2000), which are all in kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. White arrows: input to soil, black arrows: input to growth pool, grey arrows: growth, arrows with diagonal pattern: litter fall. For a more detailed image, see publication **II**.



**Figures 7A** and **7B**. Annual nitrogen (N) inputs (A) and outputs (B) from the ecosystem. Note that the vertical scale is 10-fold in Figure A compared to Figure B. Modified from paper **II**.

The accumulation rate of N to the boreal Scots pine forest was estimated at 5 to 10 kg N  $ha^{-1}$  yr<sup>-1</sup>. This coincides with the accumulation of N in living plant biomass, including wood (7.5 kg N  $ha^{-1}$  yr<sup>-1</sup>). Soil N storage seemed to remain rather unchanged (-1 +/- 8 kg N  $ha^{-1}$  yr<sup>-1</sup>) although the uncertainty is relatively high (**II**).

Nitrogen storage in plant biomass (250 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) was ca. one order of magnitude lower than in the soil. Approximately 25% of this storage was structural N in wood and ca. 30% was active N in the foliage (**II**). Based on the results of Zechmeister-Boltenstern et al. (2011), soil microbial biomass in the studied boreal Scots pine forest was estimated to be roughly 50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. This means that the ratio between N in living biomass to N in dead biomass is around 1:7. Assuming that forest soil N storage does not markedly change during succession (see below), younger forests generally have a lower, and older forests a higher living to dead biomass ratio.

#### 5.1.2. Nitrogen inputs

Nitrogen inputs to the boreal Scots pine forest are presented in Figure 7A. Nitrogen inputs to the forest ecosystem consist of atmospheric N deposition and biological N<sub>2</sub> fixation. The latter was not measured but it was estimated to contribute between 0 to 25% of the total N input. The measurement-based estimation of total atmospheric N deposition ranged from 5 to 10 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (**II**). The value is slightly higher than usually reported, although the reported values are typically not comparable. This is because often 1) organic deposition is not measured, 2) dry deposition is not measured or estimated and 3) so-called bulk deposition is reported. Bulk deposition is a value that is relatively easy to measure and it includes wet deposition and some dry deposition. Because bulk deposition already contains some of the dry deposition, they cannot simply be summed up to get total N deposition. Deposition is sometimes measured below the canopy, which typically underestimates the total deposition. An atmospheric deposition rate of 5 to 10 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> is considered elevated, yet still relatively low.

#### 5.1.3. Nitrogen outputs

Nitrogen outputs from the boreal Scots pine forest are presented in Figure 7B. Total N outputs from the system were low compared to both the storages and inputs. The total measured output from the system was ca. 0.3 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (**II**). Denitrification is the main process responsible for N outputs from the ecosystem and it requires anaerobic conditions. Although the forest soil at the measurement site is quite porous and water penetrates the soil relatively easily, it is till, i.e. a mixture of various particle sizes. This allows microsites in the soil to be filled with water and anaerobic conditions to occur at small scales enabling denitrification. However, the low NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> levels compared to NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> suggest that denitrification is not a dominant process in the soil of the studied boreal Scots pine forest.

Nitric oxide (NO) emissions were low, approximately 0.01 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>yr<sup>-1</sup>, but N<sub>2</sub>O emission was the most important measured single N output from the ecosystem, 0.2 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. Dinitrogen was not measured but is estimated to range from 0 to 2 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, which happens to be in the same range as the estimation of N input in N<sub>2</sub> fixation (**II**). The relatively low NO emissions are attributed to low nitrification rates, which are often, but not always linked to high soil acidity (low pH) (De Boer and Kowalchuk 2001).

Water flows from the system were another N output from the system. Organic N was the main form of N in this form, ca. 0.1 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. The combined output of  $NH_4^+$ ,  $NO_3^-$  and  $NO_2^-$  was at least two orders of magnitude smaller (**II**).

Overall, the low outputs from the system are associated with the low levels of organismavailable N, meaning that organisms take up almost all available mineral N before it can escape to the atmosphere.

#### 5.2. Controlled and uncontrolled litter fall

The total average annual litter fall, including needles, branches etc., was approximately 2900 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> and 4300 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in the boreal Scots pine forest and temperate Douglas fir forest, respectively (**III**). Needle litter fall was the main difference between the forests. Needle litter production was more than double in the Douglas fir forest. The Scots pine forest produced ca. 10 times more bark than the Douglas fir forest but otherwise the litter production was comparable. Foliar litter fall was the most important single source of litter in both forests (**II**, **III**). The C concentration of litter was approximately 50% in both forests (**III**). In the boreal Scots pine forest, when both broadleaved litter and large branches were taken into account, foliar litter fall contributed to half of the total litter fall in terms of mass N and C (**II**, data not shown). In the Douglas fir forest, over 80% of the N in litter fall originated from the needles.

Most autumnal foliar litter fall is controlled in the boreal Scots pine forest, as part of the nutrients are being resorbed (in senescence) from the needles and leaves before they shed. This was observed visually from the colour of the foliar litter and from the litter N content during the year. Nitrogen resorption efficiency in boreal Scots pine trees was high, averaging 71%, including needle litter that was shed while green. The more foliar litter fall is controlled, the more N the tree is conserving. Therefore, controlled shedding of litter in the autumn is clearly advantageous for trees with limited N availability.

Contrary to the autumnal foliar litter fall, premature abscission (uncontrolled litter fall) is responsible for a significant part of the total litter fall (**II**, **III**; data not shown). In premature abscission, all of the nutrients in the leaves or needles are lost, at least temporarily. In the controlled case, approximately two-thirds of N is retained in the tree. Losing three green needles by premature abscission equates to losing as much N as is needed to grow two new needles the next year. Because needle longevity is relatively high (2.7 years for Scots pine in Hyytiälä; **IV**), the effect may last for several years. Therefore, if the fraction of premature abscission increases, it may have severe effects on tree productivity.

The N utilization of trees was estimated based on the net increment of tree biomass and the quantity of N needed to replace dying tissue. The net increment of aboveground N in the tissues of trees in the boreal Scots pine forest was 7.5 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, whereas approximately 43 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> of plant biomass turned into litter, mainly into needles and branches. This gives a net use of N of 50 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. Eighty-six per cent of this was used to replace dead tissue, and only 14% was used for actual growth (**II**, Fig. 8). This means that a 14% increase in foliar litter fall would lead to a situation with insufficient N levels for new tree growth. The net increment of biomass N coincides with the N accumulation rate to the ecosystem (Fig. 8).

Premature abscission is related to harsh environmental conditions such as storms, early frost in autumn or heavy snow (III). During these conditions, plants lose both their functioning tissue, structural nutrients, such as C in woody tissue and the nutrients that could have been resorbed. Therefore, climatic factors causing premature abscission may strongly decrease tree growth.



**Figure 8**. Annual inputs and outputs of nitrogen (N) from the perspective of trees in a boreal Scots pine forest. The bar shown with dotted lines represents the annual increment of N in the biomass. The variables in bold are primary measurements and the ones in italics are calculated from the other variables based on mass balance as follows: Growth = Senescence + Biomass increment; Uptake = Growth – Retranslocation; Release from soil = Uptake – Net ecosystem input; Net ecosystem input = Deposition – Gaseous emissions – Drainage flow. Modified from paper **II**.

Nutrients lost from dead foliage are not lost forever. Nutrients from dead needles and leaves may be mineralized for plant use in decomposition. Mineralization is supposedly more rapid for green needles and leaves compared to brown needles and leaves, as larger fractions of the nutrients in fresh foliage are in mobile form. However, a significant fraction of labile mineral N deposited to the forest floor is reportedly not directly used by plants (Nadelhoffer et al. 1999). Strong winds and heavy snow events may potentially cause oscillation of the needle biomass and photosynthesis, because if a large quantity of needles is lost one year, a supposedly larger quantity of plant-available N will be available in the soil for uptake the following year. A connection between needle litter fall and tree growth based on empirical observations was observed in Lehtonen et al. (2008).

#### 5.3. Dynamics of litter fall and foliar nitrogen concentration

The quantity and constituents of the litter fall varied throughout the year in the boreal Scots pine forest, and peaked in autumn (**III**). The litter fall from December to March was relatively small. Branch litter fall was highest from January to May, cone litter fall was highest in June and July, bark litter fall was highest in spring and summer and foliar litter fall was highest in September and October.

At the temperate Douglas fir forest, cone litter fall was highest in June, whereas needle litter fall had two peaks, in May and October (III). The seasonal pattern of branch and cone litter fall was similar to the Scots pine forest and no major variation was observed in bark litter fall.

The N concentration of litter varied during the year in boreal Scots pine and temperate Douglas fir forests. In the boreal Scots pine forest, N content was highest in the late summer, whereas the concentration in the temperate Douglas fir forest was highest in winter (**III**). On the other hand, the N content in the green needles was lowest in late summer in the boreal Scots pine forest, while no systematic variation was observed in the temperate Douglas fir forest. The N content in the deciduous temperate European beech forest was rather constant after the leaves were fully developed but the N content dropped in autumn (**IV**).

#### 5.4. The role of canopy nitrogen uptake in boreal forests

Over half (4.4 of 7.4 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) of the N atmospheric deposition was retained in the canopy, defining the upper boundary for canopy N uptake. The fate of this N remains unclear, but canopy N uptake by trees is a potential option and this has been reported for coniferous trees (e.g. Wortman et al. 2012). The upper limit of canopy N uptake would be that all the N retained in the canopy is taken up by trees. This corresponds to approximately one-fourth of the total N uptake of the trees.

Epibiont biomass is one possible sink for N retaining in the canopy. Epibiont biomass in the forest has not been estimated, but based on visual observations, trees are not covered by epibionts, with the exception of certain lichen in the lower parts of tree stems. Unidentified litter fall of 2 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> was measured on the ground. The N concentration of this litter was relatively high, approximately 1.2%, which is in the N concentration range reported for lichen (Johansson et al. 2011). Because no significant numbers of epibionts were observed in the canopy, N accumulation to epibionts cannot be large. This means that if epibionts were a major sink for N retaining in the canopy, the turnover rate of this N would be rapid. This

would mean that before trees have access to this N, the N immobilized by epibionts would need to be remobilized by soil microbes.

If we assume that epibiont biomass is somewhat constant and that this N originates from epibionts, we obtain an estimation that N uptake by trees is ca. 3 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. In the N balance calculation (**II**), the unidentified litter was assumed to originate from the trees. If it actually originates from epibionts, both the N uptake level by plants and the quantity of litter produced would be slight overestimations. It is also possible that N is lost back to the atmosphere in gaseous form. Tree stems and shoots have recently been reported to potentially act as sources (Machacova et al. 2016; Lenhart et al. 2019; Machacova et al. 2019) but sometimes also as sinks (Machacova et al. 2017) of atmospheric N<sub>2</sub>O. The gaseous loss of NH<sub>3</sub> from the leaves was concluded to be insignificant due to the low ratio between bulk foliar concentrations of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and H<sup>+</sup> ( $\Gamma$ ) (IV; Flechard et al. 2013).

#### 5.5. Strategies to cope with low nitrogen availability

Allocating less N to the foliage is an important way to conserve N. This depends on the N concentration of the foliage and on the total foliage biomass. In the boreal Scots pine forest, needle N concentration increased from 1% in winter to 1.3% in the growing season, while averaging 1.2%. This is low compared to the rather constant N concentration of 2% in Douglas fir needles and 2.6% in European beech leaves in midsummer (**IV**). The total maximum N storage in the foliage was similar to the boreal Hyytiälä Scots pine forest and temperate European beech forest in Sorø, 70 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> and 62 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (**IV**), despite the different leaf types. The temperate Douglas fir forest in Speulderbos had a much larger N storage, 240 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> (**IV**). The N concentration and total N content of the foliage reflects the N availability difference between coniferous trees, but a comparison of N content between the coniferous species and broadleaved European beech is not feasible without looking at other factors as well.

Boreal Scots pine trees conserved N by having relatively long-living needles, longevity averaging 2.7 years. This is similar to the longevity of 2.6 years in Douglas fir needles in Speulderbos. In contrast, the deciduous European beech forest in Sorø grows leaves every year, with longevity being approximately half a year and the time for complete canopy renewal being one year (**IV**). Leaf longevity is mostly dependent on tree species and does not necessarily mean that these results have anything to do with N availability.

Nitrogen resorption efficiency (measured from total litter fall) was highest in the boreal Scots pine forest and in the temperate European beech forest, being around 70% (**IV**). The resorption efficiency of the temperate Douglas fir forest was 37% (**IV**). Determined by canopy foliar mass, leaf longevity and resorption efficiency, the N flux in the foliar litter fall was by far the highest in the temperate Douglas fir forest, 58 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, compared to 18 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> in the temperate European beech forest and to the modest 8 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> in the boreal Scots pine forest (**IV**). Foliar litter fall defines the lower boundary for N uptake that is needed to maintain the canopy. The differences between the forests are drastic, and the results are very well in line with the N availability of the three forests.

In relative terms, the Hyytiälä Scots pine forest annually only needed to take up 11% of the N content of the foliage, whereas Douglas fir and European beech trees needed to take up much more, 24% and 30%, respectively. In absolute terms, the difference is even more drastic when taking the peak N content in the foliage into account.

The belowground allocation in the boreal Scots pine forest was a significant sink for C

(**I**; data not shown), as also seen from the data of Korhonen et al. (2009), suggesting that roughly 20% of the GPP was used in root and rhizosphere respiration. This is linked to N mineralization and uptake, as described in (Janssens et al. 2010). Root and rhizosphere respiration is reportedly as high as heterotrophic soil respiration in summer (Högberg et al. 2001; Bhupinderpal-Singh et al. 2003) but is smaller in temperate and boreal zones at an annual scale (Subke et al. 2006).

Canopy N uptake was at most 20% of the total N uptake by the trees and ca. 9% of the annual N use in the boreal Scots pine forests. It may have some importance in boreal Scots pine forests. Normally N uptake is associated with belowground C allocation. Both the N and C economy of trees are improved when N is taken up directly by the canopy. However, even if N is deposited to the ground, it is still in plant-available form, so that the exact benefit of canopy N uptake remains unclear. It seems possible that N retained in the canopy was immobilized by epibionts. Overall, N availability was reflected to the N use of trees, but certain traits, such as leaf longevity, set boundaries for acclimation to N availability.

#### 5.6. Nitrogen availability and carbon sequestration

Based on functional equilibrium, the uptake of deposited N either by the canopy or roots means that less C needs to be allocated belowground. This partly explains the findings that atmospheric N deposition and increased Nr availability increase C sequestration. The allocation belowground means smaller root and rhizosphere respiration and less C exuded to symbiotic microbes. This in turn decreases heterotrophic respiration due to the reduced priming effect and may cause increased stabilization of soil organic matter, as explained in Janssens et al. (2010).

Root uptake was estimated at 26 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, the N mineralization rate was estimated at 19 +/-7 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, whereas total N use by trees was 50 +/-6 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. This means that N mineralization ranged from 23% to 52% of the total N use by the trees and shows that most of the N that plants use for growth does not immediately originate from N mineralization, emphasizing the importance of N resorption and N deposition. Furthermore, plants taking up organic N deflates the idea that N mineralization alone drives N cycling in boreal forests.

Resorption, atmospheric N deposition and canopy N uptake decrease autotrophic and heterotrophic soil respiration and control C sequestration to the forests. With the concept of functional equilibrium, quantitative estimations of these processes to C sequestration may perhaps be made. However, that is a topic for another study.

## 6. CONCLUSIONS

The thesis summarizes extensive research efforts towards a comprehensive N balance of a boreal forest ecosystem. The work demonstrates that it is possible to quantify most of the N and C storages and flows in the boreal Scots pine forest in Hyytiälä, Finland. Although directly measuring certain variables, such as root biomass increase or N deposition, was not practical or possible, these variables were estimated based on a combination of available measurements and modelling. Using various measurement methods to calculate the N balance challenges the comparability of the results and adds uncertainties, whereas process-based modelling may be used to evaluate the reliability of the measurements. Results based

on process-based modelling provide confidence to the observations.

Without anthropogenic effects, the vitality of boreal and temperate forests are generally limited by low N availability. Industrial  $N_2$  fixation and fossil fuel burning have increased and continue to increase Nr levels in the environment. This additional N affects the C and N cycling in forests. In certain areas, forests have become N-saturated, meaning that the excess N reduces their vitality. The N deposition of the studied temperate forests in Denmark and the Netherlands is so high that they could be N-saturated, but this was not observed in this study. The boreal Scots pine forest is clearly limited by N availability. This means that additional N increases forest vitality and increases the forest as a sink for atmospheric C. Boreal forest trees in a rapid growing stage absorb most of the additional N to their own biomass, meaning that the soil N storages seem to be somewhat unchanged.

By efficiently coping with low N availability, trees may absorb more solar energy and forests may act as stronger sinks for atmospheric C. Understanding how trees control both C and N cycling in the forests is essential for predicting how forests act as C sinks in the future. One of the key principles controlling these cycles is how trees cope with limited N availability.

Boreal Scots pine trees are experts at conserving and recycling N. The level of N stored in the canopy is relatively low because the canopy is not very dense and needle N concentration is relatively low. Furthermore, needles have relatively long lifetimes, meaning that the annual N demand for growing new needles remains at a moderate level. Boreal Scots pine trees are also very efficient at recycling N from the old needles before they shed to the ground. Approximately two-thirds of needle N is resorbed in the litter fall and this covers ca. half of the total N use of Scots pine trees.

Coniferous trees have adapted to saving N by growing needles with relatively long lifetimes. This happens even though they may have plenty of Nr available, as seen in the temperate Speulderbos Douglas fir forest. Deciduous European beech with relatively high N availability also conserve N by resorbing it from old leaves. Unlike boreal Scots pine trees, trees in the studied temperate forests do not markedly conserve N when it comes to growing canopies.

Boreal Scots pine trees use most of the N available for allocation for maintaining their structures and only a fraction is used for increasing their biomass. Because resorption is a major N source for trees, premature abscission may have a remarkable impact on forest growth. If heavy storm events and snow damages increase in the future, this may have a significant impact on the productivity of boreal forests and their ability to act as C sinks. Nitrogen is not easily lost from boreal forest ecosystems, but as Scots pine needles have a lifetime of several years, the effect of disturbances may be relatively long.

Atmospheric N deposition is challenging to assess. Based on novel methods that include organic N and only take dry deposition into account once, the N deposition in boreal forests seems higher than previously estimated. A significant part of the deposited N remains in the canopy. Lichen and other epibionts with high turnover rates appear to take up and immobilize this N after it is deposited to the ground.

When estimating the net mineralization rate of forest soil based on the mass balance (or top-down) approach, the net mineralization of soil N in N-limited forests is often assumed to be in the same order of magnitude as plant N uptake. Taking N resorption, N deposition, foliar N uptake and organic N uptake properly in account makes the estimates for net N mineralization rates needed to sustain plant growth markedly smaller. These estimations should be critically compared to other estimations of net mineralization rate, such as the ones based on soil  $CO_2$  emissions or laboratory net mineralization measurements. Correctly

determining the mineralization rate of soil is essential for estimating C sinks of boreal Scots pine forests in the future climate. A slower net mineralization rate may mean that boreal forests are less prone to turn into massive sources of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>.

Considering future research, the sensitivity of forest productivity to abiotic damage from the perspective of N cycling could be studied further. Comparisons could be made of topdown and bottom-up estimations of mineralization rates of forest soils. Dinitrogen fixation and  $N_2$  losses from forests could be studied further, as this could turn out to be important for also better quantifying the global N cycling. Atmospheric N wet deposition could be separated from bulk deposition measurements to conduct better estimation of the actual N deposition. In addition, the approach in this study may help quantify how much C sequestration increases with N deposition in N-limited ecosystems.

# REFERENCES

- Aber, J.D., 1992. Nitrogen Cycling and Nitrogen Saturation in Temperate Forest Ecosystems. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 7(7): 220-224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-5347(92)90048-G</u>.
- Adamczyk, B., Sietiö, O.M., Straková, P., Prommer, J., Wild, B., Hagner, M., Pihlatie, M., Fritze, H., Richter, A., Heinonsalo, J., 2019. Plant roots increase both decomposition and stable organic matter formation in boreal forest soil. Nature Communications, 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11993-1</u>.
- Aerts, R., 1996. Nutrient resorption from senescing leaves of perennials: Are there general patterns? Journal of Ecology, 84(4): 597-608. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2261481</u>.
- Ambus, P., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., Butterbach-Bahl, K., 2006. Sources of nitrous oxide emitted from European forest soils. Biogeosciences, 3(2): 135-145. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-3-135-2006</u>.
- Bala, G., Devaraju, N., Chaturvedi, R.K., Caldeira, K., Nemani, R., 2013. Nitrogen deposition: how important is it for global terrestrial carbon uptake? Biogeosciences, 10(11): 7147-7160. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-7147-2013</u>.
- Bar-On, Y.M., Phillips, R., Milo, R., 2018. The biomass distribution on Earth. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 115(25): 6506-6511. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1711842115</u>.
- Batjes, N.H., 2014. Total carbon and nitrogen in the soils of the world. European Journal of Soil Science, 65(1): 10-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejss.12114\_2</u>.
- Berg, B., McClaugherty, C., 2003. Plant Litter Decomposition, Humus Formation, Carbon Sequestration. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 286 pp. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-05349-2</u>.
- Betts, A.K., Ball, J.H., 1997. Albedo over the boreal forest. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 102(D24): 28901-28909. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/96jd03876</u>.
- Bhupinderpal-Singh, Nordgren, A., Lofvenius, M.O., Högberg, M.N., Mellander, P.E., Högberg, P., 2003. Tree root and soil heterotrophic respiration as revealed by girdling of boreal Scots pine forest: extending observations beyond the first year. Plant Cell and Environment, 26(8): 1287-1296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3040.2003.01053.x</u>.
- Bingeman, C.W., Varner, J.E., Martin, W.P., 1953. The Effect of the Addition of Organic Materials on the Decomposition of an Organic Soil. Soil Science Society of America Proceedings, 17(1): 34-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1953.03615995001700010008x</u>.

- Bond-Lamberty, B., Wang, C.K., Gower, S.T., 2004. A global relationship between the heterotrophic and autotrophic components of soil respiration? Global Change Biology, 10(10): 1756-1766. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2004.00816.x</u>.
- Brouwer, R., 1963. Some aspects of the equilibrium between overground and underground plant parts. Jaarboek van het Instituut voor Biologisch en Scheikundig onderzoek aan Landbouwgewassen, 213: 31-39, <u>https://edepot.wur.nl/361707#page=27</u>.
- Burkhardt, J., Basi, S., Pariyar, S., Hunsche, M., 2012. Stomatal penetration by aqueous solutions - an update involving leaf surface particles. New Phytologist, 196(3): 774-787. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04307.x</u>.
- Canfield, D.E., Glazer, A.N., Falkowski, P.G., 2010. The Evolution and Future of Earth's Nitrogen Cycle. Science, 330(6001): 192-196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1186120</u>.
- Chapin, F.S., Moilanen, L., Kielland, K., 1993. Preferential Use of Organic Nitrogen for Growth by a Nonmycorrhizal Arctic Sedge. Nature, 361(6408): 150-153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/361150a0</u>.
- Chen, R.R., Senbayram, M., Blagodatsky, S., Myachina, O., Dittert, K., Lin, X.G., Blagodatskaya, E., Kuzyakov, Y., 2014. Soil C and N availability determine the priming effect: microbial N mining and stoichiometric decomposition theories. Global Change Biology, 20(7): 2356-2367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12475</u>.
- Courty, P.E., Smith, P., Koegel, S., Redecker, D., Wipf, D., 2015. Inorganic Nitrogen Uptake and Transport in Beneficial Plant Root-Microbe Interactions. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences, 34(1-3): 4-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07352689.2014.897897</u>.
- De Boer, W., Kowalchuk, G.A., 2001. Nitrification in acid soils: micro-organisms and mechanisms. Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 33(7-8): 853-866. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(00)00247-9.
- De Schrijver, A., Verheyen, K., Mertens, J., Staelens, J., Wuyts, K., Muys, B., 2008. Nitrogen saturation and net ecosystem production. Nature, 451(7180): E1-E1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06578</u>.
- de Vries, W., Du, E.Z., Butterbach-Bahl, K., 2014. Short and long-term impacts of nitrogen deposition on carbon sequestration by forest ecosystems. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 9-10: 90-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2014.09.001.
- de Vries, W., Solberg, S., Dobbertin, M., Sterba, H., Laubhann, D., van Oijen, M., Evans, C., Gundersen, P., Kros, J., Wamelink, G.W.W., Reinds, G.J., Sutton, M.A., 2009. The impact of nitrogen deposition on carbon sequestration by European forests and heathlands. Forest Ecology and Management, 258(8): 1814-1823. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.02.034.
- DeLuca, T.H., Zackrisson, O., Nilsson, M.C., Sellstedt, A., 2002. Quantifying nitrogenfixation in feather moss carpets of boreal forests. Nature, 419(6910): 917-920. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/Nature01051</u>.
- Elbert, W., Weber, B., Burrows, S., Steinkamp, J., Budel, B., Andreae, M.O., Poschl, U., 2012. Contribution of cryptogamic covers to the global cycles of carbon and nitrogen. Nature Geoscience, 5(7): 459-462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo1486</u>.
- Elser, J.J., Fagan, W.F., Denno, R.F., Dobberfuhl, D.R., Folarin, A., Huberty, A., Interlandi, S., Kilham, S.S., McCauley, E., Schulz, K.L., Siemann, E.H., Sterner, R.W., 2000. Nutritional constraints in terrestrial and freshwater food webs. Nature, 408(6812): 578-580. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/35046058</u>.
- Ericsson, T., 1995. Growth and shoot: root ratio of seedlings in relation to nutrient availability. Plant and Soil, 168-169(1): 205-214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00029330</u>.
- Erisman, J.W., Galloway, J., Seitzinger, S., Bleeker, A., Butterbach-Bahl, K., 2011. Reactive nitrogen in the environment and its effect on climate change. Current Opinion in

EnvironmentalSustainability,<br/>Number 3(5):3(5):281-290.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2011.08.012.

- Erisman, J.W., Sutton, M.A., Galloway, J., Klimont, Z., Winiwarter, W., 2008. How a century of ammonia synthesis changed the world. Nature Geoscience, 1(10): 636-639. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/Ngeo325</u>.
- Fernandez-Martinez, M., Vicca, S., Janssens, I.A., Ciais, P., Obersteiner, M., Bartrons, M., Sardans, J., Verger, A., Canadell, J.G., Chevallier, F., Wang, X., Bernhofer, C., Curtis, P.S., Gianelle, D., Gruwald, T., Heinesch, B., Ibrom, A., Knohl, A., Laurila, T., Law, B.E., Limousin, J.M., Longdoz, B., Loustau, D., Mammarella, I., Matteucci, G., Monson, R.K., Montagnani, L., Moors, E.J., Munger, J.W., Papale, D., Piao, S.L., Penuelas, J., 2017. Atmospheric deposition, CO2, and change in the land carbon sink. Scientific Reports, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-08755-8</u>.
- Fishman, J., Crutzen, P.J., 1978. Origin of Ozone in Troposphere. Nature, 274(5674): 855-858. https://doi.org/10.1038/274855a0.
- Flechard, C.R., Massad, R.S., Loubet, B., Personne, E., Simpson, D., Bash, J.O., Cooter, E.J., Nemitz, E., Sutton, M.A., 2013. Advances in understanding, models and parameterizations of biosphere-atmosphere ammonia exchange. Biogeosciences, 10(7): 5183-5225. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-5183-2013</u>.
- Flechard, C.R., Nemitz, E., Smith, R.I., Fowler, D., Vermeulen, A.T., Bleeker, A., Erisman, J.W., Simpson, D., Zhang, L., Tang, Y.S., Sutton, M.A., 2011. Dry deposition of reactive nitrogen to European ecosystems: a comparison of inferential models across the NitroEurope network. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 11(6): 2703-2728. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-11-2703-2011.
- Fontaine, S., Barot, S., Barre, P., Bdioui, N., Mary, B., Rumpel, C., 2007. Stability of organic carbon in deep soil layers controlled by fresh carbon supply. Nature, 450(7167): 277-U10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/Nature06275</u>.
- Galloway, J.N., Aber, J.D., Erisman, J.W., Seitzinger, S.P., Howarth, R.W., Cowling, E.B., Cosby, B.J., 2003. The nitrogen cascade. Bioscience, 53(4): 341-356. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2003)053[0341:TNC]2.0.CO;2.
- Galloway, J.N., Cowling, E.B., 2002. Reactive nitrogen and the world: 200 years of change. Ambio, 31(2): 64-71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447-31.2.64</u>.
- Ge, X.L., Wexler, A.S., Clegg, S.L., 2011. Atmospheric amines Part I. A review. Atmospheric Environment, 45(3): 524-546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2010.10.012.
- Gerendas, J., Zhu, Z.J., Bendixen, R., Ratcliffe, R.G., Sattelmacher, B., 1997. Physiological and biochemical processes related to ammonium toxicity in higher plants. Zeitschrift Fur Pflanzenernahrung Und Bodenkunde, 160(3): 239-251. https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.19971600218.
- Grote, R., 2007. Sensitivity of volatile monoterpene emission to changes in canopy structure: a model-based exercise with a process-based emission model. New Phytologist, 173(3): 550-561. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01946.x</u>.
- Grote, R., Lavoir, A.V., Rambal, S., Staudt, M., Zimmer, I., Schnitzler, J.P., 2009a. Modelling the drought impact on monoterpene fluxes from an evergreen Mediterranean forest canopy. Oecologia, 160(2): 213-223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-009-1298-9</u>.
- Grote, R., Lehmann, E., Brummer, C., Bruggemann, N., Szarzynski, J., Kunstmann, H., 2009b. Modelling and observation of biosphere-atmosphere interactions in natural savannah in Burkina Faso, West Africa. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, 34(4-5): 251-260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pce.2008.05.003</u>.
- Gruber, N., Galloway, J.N., 2008. An Earth-system perspective of the global nitrogen cycle. Nature, 451(7176): 293-296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06592</u>.

- Gundale, M.J., From, F., Bach, L.H., Nordin, A., 2014. Anthropogenic nitrogen deposition in boreal forests has a minor impact on the global carbon cycle. Global Change Biology, 20(1): 276-286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12422</u>.
- Haas, E., Klatt, S., Frohlich, A., Kraft, P., Werner, C., Kiese, R., Grote, R., Breuer, L., Butterbach-Bahl, K., 2013. LandscapeDNDC: a process model for simulation of biosphere-atmosphere-hydrosphere exchange processes at site and regional scale. Landscape Ecology, 28(4): 615-636. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-012-9772-x.
- Hari, P., Kulmala, M., 2005. Station for measuring ecosystem-atmosphere relations (SMEAR II). Boreal Environment Research, 10(5): 315-322, http://www.borenv.net/BER/pdfs/ber10/ber10-315.pdf.
- Helmisaari, H.S., Derome, J., Nöjd, P., Kukkola, M., 2007. Fine root biomass in relation to site and stand characteristics in Norway spruce and Scots pine stands. Tree Physiology, 27(10): 1493-1504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/27.10.1493</u>.
- Holst, J., Grote, R., Offermann, C., Ferrio, J.P., Gessler, A., Mayer, H., Rennenberg, H., 2010. Water fluxes within beech stands in complex terrain. International Journal of Biometeorology, 54(1): 23-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-009-0248-x</u>.
- Houlton, B.Z., Morford, S.L., Dahlgren, R.A., 2018. Convergent evidence for widespread rock nitrogen sources in Earth's surface environment. Science, 360(6384): 58-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aan4399</u>.
- Hyvönen, R., Persson, T., Andersson, S., Olsson, B., Ågren, G.I., Linder, S., 2008. Impact of long-term nitrogen addition on carbon stocks in trees and soils in northern Europe. Biogeochemistry, 89(1): 121-137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-007-9121-3</u>.
- Högberg, P., Nordgren, A., Buchmann, N., Taylor, A.F.S., Ekblad, A., Högberg, M.N., Nyberg, G., Ottosson-Lofvenius, M., Read, D.J., 2001. Large-scale forest girdling shows that current photosynthesis drives soil respiration. Nature, 411(6839): 789-792. https://doi.org/10.1038/35081058.
- Ilvesniemi, H., Levula, J., Ojansuu, R., Kolari, P., Kulmala, L., Pumpanen, J., Launiainen, S., Vesala, T., Nikinmaa, E., 2009. Long-term measurements of the carbon balance of a boreal Scots pine dominated forest ecosystem. Boreal Environment Research, 14(4): 731-753, http://www.borenv.net/BER/pdfs/ber14/ber14-731.pdf.
- Ilvesniemi, H., Pumpanen, J., Duursma, R., Hari, P., Keronen, P., Kolari, P., Kulmala, M., Mammarella, I., Nikinmaa, E., Rannik, Ü., Pohja, T., Siivola, E., Vesala, T., 2010. Water balance of a boreal Scots pine forest. Boreal Environment Research, 15(4): 375-396, <u>http://www.borenv.net/BER/pdfs/ber15/ber15-375.pdf</u>.
- Janssens, I.A., Dieleman, W., Luyssaert, S., Subke, J.A., Reichstein, M., Ceulemans, R., Ciais, P., Dolman, A.J., Grace, J., Matteucci, G., Papale, D., Piao, S.L., Schulze, E.D., Tang, J., Law, B.E., 2010. Reduction of forest soil respiration in response to nitrogen deposition. Nature Geoscience, 3(5): 315-322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo844</u>.
- Janssens, I.A., Lankreijer, H., Matteucci, G., Kowalski, A.S., Buchmann, N., Epron, D., Pilegaard, K., Kutsch, W., Longdoz, B., Grünwald, T., Montagnani, L., Dore, S., Rebmann, C., Moors, E.J., Grelle, A., Rannik, Ü., Morgenstern, K., Oltchev, S., Clement, R., Guðmundsson, J., Minerbi, S., Berbigier, P., Ibrom, A., Moncrieff, J., Aubinet, M., Bernhofer, C., Jensen, N.O., Vesala, T., Granier, A., Schulze, E.D., Lindroth, A., Dolman, A.J., Jarvis, P.G., Ceulemans, R., Valentini, R., 2001. Productivity overshadows temperature in determining soil and ecosystem respiration across European forests. Global Change Biology, 7(3): 269-278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2001.00412.x</u>.
- Jia, Y.L., Yu, G.R., Gao, Y.N., He, N.P., Wang, Q.F., Jiao, C.C., Zuo, Y., 2016. Global inorganic nitrogen dry deposition inferred from ground- and space-based measurements. Scientific Reports, 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep19810</u>.

- Johansson, O., Olofsson, J., Giesler, R., Palmqvist, K., 2011. Lichen responses to nitrogen and phosphorus additions can be explained by the different symbiont responses. New Phytologist, 191(3): 795-805. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2011.03739.x</u>.
- Karhu, K., 2010. Temperature sensitivity of soil organic matter decomposition in boreal soils. Dissertationes Forestales, 107. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/df.107</u>.
- Keenan, R.J., Reams, G.A., Achard, F., de Freitas, J.V., Grainger, A., Lindquist, E., 2015. Dynamics of global forest area: Results from the FAO Global Forest Resources Assessment 2015. Forest Ecology and Management, 352: 9-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2015.06.014.
- Kolari, P., Kulmala, L., Pumpanen, J., Launiainen, S., Ilvesniem, H., Hari, P., Nikinmaa, E., 2009. CO(2) exchange and component CO(2) fluxes of a boreal Scots pine forest. Boreal Environment Research, 14(4): 761-783, <u>http://www.borenv.net/BER/pdfs/ber14/ber14-761.pdf</u>.
- Korhonen, J.F.J., Pumpanen, J., Kolari, P., Juurola, E., Nikinmaa, E., 2009. Contribution of root and rhizosphere respiration to the annual variation of carbon balance of a boreal Scots pine forest. Biogeosciences Discuss., 2009: 6179-6203. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/bgd-6-6179-2009</u>.
- Korhonen, J.F.J., Pumpanen, J., Pihlatie, M., 2012. Total nitrogen deposition to a boreal forest – organic dry nitrogen deposition estimated. In: Kulmala, M., Lappalainen, H.K., Boy, M., Brus, M., Nieminen, T. (Editors), Proceedings of Finnish Center of Excellence in 'Physics, Chemistry, Biology and Meteorology of Atmospheric Composition and Climate Change', and Nordic Center of Excellence in 'Cryosphere-Atmosphere Interactions in a Changing Arctic Climate' Annual Meetings 2012. Report Series in Aerosol Science. Finnish Association for Aerosol Research, pp. 375-379, http://www.atm.helsinki.fi/FAAR/reportseries/rs-134.pdf#page=375.
- Korkama, T., Pakkanen, A., Pennanen, T., 2006. Ectomycorrhizal community structure varies among Norway spruce (Picea abies) clones. New Phytologist, 171(4): 815-824. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01786.x</u>.
- Kulmala, M., Suni, T., Lehtinen, K.E.J., Dal Maso, M., Boy, M., Reissell, A., Rannik, U., Aalto, P., Keronen, P., Hakola, H., Bäck, J.B., Hoffmann, T., Vesala, T., Hari, P., 2004. A new feedback mechanism linking forests, aerosols, and climate. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 4: 557-562. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-4-557-2004</u>.
- Kuusinen, N., 2014. Boreal forest albedo and its spatial and temporal variation. Dissertationes Forestales, 179. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/df.179</u>.
- Lambers, H., 1983. The Functional Equilibrium, Nibbling on the Edges of a Paradigm. Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science, 31(4): 305-311.
- Launiainen, S., 2010. Seasonal and inter-annual variability of energy exchange above a boreal Scots pine forest. Biogeosciences, 7(12): 3921-3940. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-7-3921-2010</u>.
- LeBauer, D.S., Treseder, K.K., 2008. Nitrogen limitation of net primary productivity in terrestrial ecosystems is globally distributed. Ecology, 89(2): 371-379. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/06-2057.1</u>.
- Lehtonen, A., Lindholm, M., Hokkanen, T., Salminen, H., Jalkanen, R., 2008. Testing dependence between growth and needle litterfall in Scots pine-a case study in northern Finland. Tree Physiology, 28(11): 1741-1749. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/28.11.1741.
- Lenhart, K., Behrendt, T., Greiner, S., Steinkamp, J., Well, R., Giesemann, A., Keppler, F., 2019. Nitrous oxide effluxes from plants as a potentially important source to the atmosphere. New Phytologist, 221(3): 1398-1408. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.15455</u>.

- Li, C.S., Frolking, S., Frolking, T.A., 1992. A Model of Nitrous-Oxide Evolution from Soil Driven by Rainfall Events .1. Model Structure and Sensitivity. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 97(D9): 9759-9776. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/92jd00509</u>.
- Liu, L.L., Greaver, T.L., 2009. A review of nitrogen enrichment effects on three biogenic GHGs: the CO2 sink may be largely offset by stimulated N2O and CH4 emission. Ecology Letters, 12(10): 1103-1117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01351.x</u>.
- Machacova, K., Bäck, J., Vanhatalo, A., Halmeenmäki, E., Kolari, P., Mammarella, I., Pumpanen, J., Acosta, M., Urban, O., Pihlatie, M., 2016. Pinus sylvestris as a missing source of nitrous oxide and methane in boreal forest. Scientific Reports, 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep23410</u>.
- Machacova, K., Maier, M., Svobodova, K., Lang, F., Urban, O., 2017. Cryptogamic stem covers may contribute to nitrous oxide consumption by mature beech trees. Scientific Reports, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-13781-7</u>.
- Machacova, K., Vainio, E., Urban, O., Pihlatie, M., 2019. Seasonal dynamics of stem N2O exchange follow the physiological activity of boreal trees. Nature Communications, 10(1): 4989. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-12976-y</u>.
- Magnani, F., Mencuccini, M., Borghetti, M., Berbigier, P., Berninger, F., Delzon, S., Grelle, A., Hari, P., Jarvis, P.G., Kolari, P., Kowalski, A.S., Lankreijer, H., Law, B.E., Lindroth, A., Loustau, D., Manca, G., Moncrieff, J.B., Rayment, M., Tedeschi, V., Valentini, R., Grace, J., 2007. The human footprint in the carbon cycle of temperate and boreal forests. Nature, 447(7146): 848-850. https://doi.org/10.1038/Nature05847.
- Montzka, S.A., Dlugokencky, E.J., Butler, J.H., 2011. Non-CO2 greenhouse gases and climate change. Nature, 476(7358): 43-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10322</u>.
- Morford, S.L., Houlton, B.Z., Dahlgren, R.A., 2011. Increased forest ecosystem carbon and nitrogen storage from nitrogen rich bedrock. Nature, 477(7362): 78-U88. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10415.
- Mäkelä, A., Hari, P., Berninger, F., Hänninen, H., Nikinmaa, E., 2004. Acclimation of photosynthetic capacity in Scots pine to the annual cycle of temperature. Tree Physiology, 24(4): 369-376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/24.4.369</u>.
- Nadelhoffer, K.J., Emmett, B.A., Gundersen, P., Kjønaas, O.J., Koopmans, C.J., Schleppi, P., Tietema, A., Wright, R.F., 1999. Nitrogen deposition makes a minor contribution to carbon sequestration in temperate forests. Nature, 398(6723): 145-148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/18205</u>.
- Näsholm, T., Ekblad, A., Nordin, A., Giesler, R., Högberg, M., Högberg, P., 1998. Boreal forest plants take up organic nitrogen. Nature, 392(6679): 914-916. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/31921</u>.
- Näsholm, T., Kielland, K., Ganeteg, U., 2009. Uptake of organic nitrogen by plants. New Phytologist, 182(1): 31-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02751.x</u>.
- Otte, J.M., Blackwell, N., Ruser, R., Kappler, A., Kleindienst, S., Schmidt, C., 2019. N2O formation by nitrite-induced (chemo)denitrification in coastal marine sediment. Scientific Reports, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47172-x</u>.
- Pan, W.L., Madsen, I.J., Bolton, R.P., Graves, L., Sistrunk, T., 2016. Ammonia/Ammonium Toxicity Root Symptoms Induced by Inorganic and Organic Fertilizers and Placement. Agronomy Journal, 108(6): 2485-2492. <u>https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2016.02.0122</u>.
- Pan, Y.D., Birdsey, R.A., Fang, J.Y., Houghton, R., Kauppi, P.E., Kurz, W.A., Phillips, O.L., Shvidenko, A., Lewis, S.L., Canadell, J.G., Ciais, P., Jackson, R.B., Pacala, S.W., McGuire, A.D., Piao, S.L., Rautiainen, A., Sitch, S., Hayes, D., 2011. A Large and Persistent Carbon Sink in the World's Forests. Science, 333(6045): 988-993. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1201609</u>.

- Peel, M.C., Finlayson, B.L., McMahon, T.A., 2007. Updated world map of the Koppen-Geiger climate classification. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 11(5): 1633-1644. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-11-1633-2007.
- Persson, J., Högberg, P., Ekblad, A., Högberg, M.N., Nordgren, A., Näsholm, T., 2003. Nitrogen acquisition from inorganic and organic sources by boreal forest plants in the field. Oecologia, 137(2): 252-257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-003-1334-0</u>.
- Pickles, B.J., Genney, D.R., Potts, J.M., Lennon, J.J., Anderson, I.C., Alexander, I.J., 2010. Spatial and temporal ecology of Scots pine ectomycorrhizas. New Phytologist, 186(3): 755-768. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03204.x</u>.
- Pihlatie, M., Pumpanen, J., Rinne, J., Ilvesniemi, H., Simojoki, A., Hari, P., Vesala, T., 2007.
  Gas concentration driven fluxes of nitrous oxide and carbon dioxide in boreal forest soil.
  Tellus B: Chemical and Physical Meteorology, 59(3): 458-469.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0889.2007.00278.x.
- Pilegaard, K., Ibrom, A., Courtney, M.S., Hummelshoj, P., Jensen, N.O., 2011. Increasing net CO2 uptake by a Danish beech forest during the period from 1996 to 2009. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 151(7): 934-946. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2011.02.013.
- Prather, M.J., Hsu, J., DeLuca, N.M., Jackman, C.H., Oman, L.D., Douglass, A.R., Fleming, E.L., Strahan, S.E., Steenrod, S.D., Søvde, O.A., Isaksen, I.S.A., Froidevaux, L., Funke, B., 2015. Measuring and modeling the lifetime of nitrous oxide including its variability. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 120(11): 5693-5705. https://doi.org/10.1002/2015jd023267.
- Raat, K.J., Tietema, A., Verstraten, J.M., 2010. Nitrogen turnover in fresh Douglas fir litter directly after additions of moisture and inorganic nitrogen. Plant and Soil, 330(1-2): 115-126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-009-0181-0</u>.
- Ravishankara, A.R., Daniel, J.S., Portmann, R.W., 2009. Nitrous Oxide (N2O): The Dominant Ozone-Depleting Substance Emitted in the 21st Century. Science, 326(5949): 123-125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1176985</u>.
- Sanderson, M.G., Dentener, F.J., Fiore, A.M., Cuvelier, C., Keating, T.J., Zuber, A., Atherton, C.S., Bergmann, D.J., Diehl, T., Doherty, R.M., Duncan, B.N., Hess, P., Horowitz, L.W., Jacob, D.J., Jonson, J.E., Kaminski, J.W., Lupu, A., MacKenzie, I.A., Mancini, E., Marmer, E., Park, R., Pitari, G., Prather, M.J., Pringle, K.J., Schroeder, S., Schultz, M.G., Shindell, D.T., Szopa, S., Wild, O., Wind, P., 2008. A multi-model study of the hemispheric transport and deposition of oxidised nitrogen. Geophysical Research Letters, 35(17). <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2008gl035389</u>.
- Schulte-Uebbing, L., de Vries, W., 2018. Global-scale impacts of nitrogen deposition on tree carbon sequestration in tropical, temperate, and boreal forests: A meta-analysis. Global Change Biology, 24(2): E416-E431. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13862</u>.
- Schumann, U., Huntrieser, H., 2007. The global lightning-induced nitrogen oxides source. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 7(14): 3823-3907. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-7-3823-2007</u>.
- Smil, V., 1999. Nitrogen in crop production: An account of global flows. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 13(2): 647-662. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/1999gb900015</u>.
- Smil, V., 2002. Nitrogen and food production: Proteins for human diets. Ambio, 31(2): 126-131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1639/0044-7447(2002)031[0126:Nafppf]2.0.Co;2</u>.
- Stein, L.Y., Klotz, M.G., 2016. The nitrogen cycle. Current Biology, 26(3): R94-R98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.12.021.
- Stewart, W.M., Dibb, D.W., Johnston, A.E., Smyth, T.J., 2005. The contribution of commercial fertilizer nutrients to food production. Agronomy Journal, 97(1): 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2005.0001</u>.

- Su, Z., Timmermans, W.J., van der Tol, C., Dost, R., Bianchi, R., Gomez, J.A., House, A., Hajnsek, I., Menenti, M., Magliulo, V., Esposito, M., Haarbrink, R., Bosveld, F., Rothe, R., Baltink, H.K., Vekerdy, Z., Sobrino, J.A., Timmermans, J., van Laake, P., Salama, S., van der Kwast, H., Claassen, E., Stolk, A., Jia, L., Moors, E., Hartogensis, O., Gillespie, A., 2009. EAGLE 2006-Multi-purpose, multi-angle and multi-sensor in-situ and airborne campaigns over grassland and forest. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 13(6): 833-845. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-13-833-2009.
- Subke, J.A., Inglima, I., Cotrufo, M.F., 2006. Trends and methodological impacts in soil CO2 efflux partitioning: A metaanalytical review. Global Change Biology, 12(6): 921-943. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01117.x.
- Sutton, M., Howard, C., J., E., Billen, G., Bleeker, A., Grennfelt, P., H., v.G., Grizzetti, B. (Eds.), 2011. The European Nitrogen Assessment: Sources, Effects and Policy Perspectives. Cambridge University Press, 612 pp. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511976988.
- Thomas, R.Q., Canham, C.D., Weathers, K.C., Goodale, C.L., 2010. Increased tree carbon storage in response to nitrogen deposition in the US. Nature Geoscience, 3(1): 13-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/Ngeo721</u>.
- Trumbore, S., 2000. Age of soil organic matter and soil respiration: Radiocarbon constraints on belowground C dynamics. Ecological Applications, 10(2): 399-411. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2000)010[0399:Aosoma]2.0.Co;2.
- Valentini, R., Matteucci, G., Dolman, A.J., Schulze, E.D., Rebmann, C., Moors, E.J., Granier, A., Gross, P., Jensen, N.O., Pilegaard, K., Lindroth, A., Grelle, A., Bernhofer, C., Grünwald, T., Aubinet, M., Ceulemans, R., Kowalski, A.S., Vesala, T., Rannik, Ü., Berbigier, P., Loustau, D., Guðmundsson, J., Thorgeirsson, H., Ibrom, A., Morgenstern, K., Clement, R., Moncrieff, J., Montagnani, L., Minerbi, S., Jarvis, P.G., 2000. Respiration as the main determinant of carbon balance in European forests. Nature, 404(6780): 861-865. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/35009084</u>.
- van de Vossenberg, J., Woebken, D., Maalcke, W.J., Wessels, H.J.C.T., Dutilh, B.E., Kartal, B., Janssen-Megens, E.M., Roeselers, G., Yan, J., Speth, D., Gloerich, J., Geerts, W., van der Biezen, E., Pluk, W., Francoijs, K.J., Russ, L., Lam, P., Malfatti, S.A., Tringe, S.G., Haaijer, S.C.M., Op den Camp, H.J.M., Stunnenberg, H.G., Amann, R., Kuypers, M.M.M., Jetten, M.S.M., 2013. The metagenome of the marine anammox bacterium 'Candidatus Scalindua profunda' illustrates the versatility of this globally important nitrogen cycle bacterium. Environmental Microbiology, 15(5): 1275-1289. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2012.02774.x.
- van der Ploeg, R.R., Bohm, W., Kirkham, M.B., 1999. On the origin of the theory of mineral nutrition of plants and the law of the minimum. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 63(5): 1055-1062. <u>https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1999.6351055x</u>.
- van Noordwijk, M., Dewilligen, P., 1987. Agricultural Concepts of Roots from Morphogenetic to Functional Equilibrium between Root and Shoot Growth. Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science, 35(4): 487-496.
- van Wijk, M.T., Dekker, S.C., Bouten, W., Kohsiek, W., Mohren, G.M.J., 2001. Simulation of carbon and water budgets of a Douglas-fir forest. Forest Ecology and Management, 145(3): 229-241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00439-4</u>.
- Wardle, D.A., Zackrisson, O., Hörnberg, G., Gallet, C., 1997. The influence of island area on ecosystem properties. Science, 277(5330): 1296-1299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.277.5330.1296</u>.
- Weligepolage, K., Gieske, A.S.M., Su, Z., 2012. Surface roughness analysis of a conifer forest canopy with airborne and terrestrial laser scanning techniques. International Journal

of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation, 14(1): 192-203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2011.08.014.

- Vesala, T., Suni, T., Rannik, Ü., Keronen, P., Markkanen, T., Sevanto, S., Grönholm, T., Smolander, S., Kulmala, M., Ilvesniemi, H., Ojansuu, R., Uotila, A., Levula, J., Mäkelä, A., Pumpanen, J., Kolari, P., Kulmala, L., Altimir, N., Berninger, F., Nikinmaa, E., Hari, P., 2005. Effect of thinning on surface fluxes in a boreal forest. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 19(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2004gb002316</u>.
- Vitousek, P.M., Howarth, R.W., 1991. Nitrogen Limitation on Land and in the Sea How Can It Occur. Biogeochemistry, 13(2): 87-115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00002772</u>.
- Wortman, E., Tomaszewski, T., Waldner, P., Schleppi, P., Thimonier, A., Eugster, W., Buchmann, N., Sievering, H., 2012. Atmospheric nitrogen deposition and canopy retention influences on photosynthetic performance at two high nitrogen deposition Swiss forests. Tellus B: Chemical and Physical Meteorology, 64. https://doi.org/10.3402/tellusb.v64i0.17216.
- Wu, J., Larsen, K.S., van der Linden, L., Beier, C., Pilegaard, K., Ibrom, A., 2013. Synthesis on the carbon budget and cycling in a Danish, temperate deciduous forest. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 181: 94-107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2013.07.012</u>.
- Wu, Z.Y., Wang, X.M., Turnipseed, A.A., Chen, F., Zhang, L.M., Guenther, A.B., Karl, T., Huey, L.G., Niyogi, D., Xia, B.C., Alapaty, K., 2012. Evaluation and improvements of two community models in simulating dry deposition velocities for peroxyacetyl nitrate (PAN) over a coniferous forest. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 117. https://doi.org/10.1029/2011jd016751.
- Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., Michel, K., Pfeffer, M., 2011. Soil microbial community structure in European forests in relation to forest type and atmospheric nitrogen deposition. Plant and Soil, 343(1-2): 37-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-010-0528-6</u>.